Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company Massachusetts Mutual Variable Annuity Separate Account 4 Panorama Premier Variable Annuity

This prospectus describes the individual certificates issued under the Panorama Premier deferred group variable annuity contract offered by Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company. We no longer sell the certificate. However, we continue to administer existing certificates. This certificate provides for accumulation of certificate value and annuity payments on a fixed and/or variable basis.

You, the participant, have a number of investment choices in this certificate. These investment choices include three fixed account options as well as the following funds which are offered through our separate account, Massachusetts Mutual Variable Annuity Separate Account 4.

AIM Variable Insurance Funds (Invesco Variable Insurance Funds)

- Invesco V.I. Diversified Dividend Fund
- Invesco V.I. Global Health Care Fund
- Invesco V.I. Technology Fund

Fidelity® Variable Insurance Products Fund

Fidelity[®] VIP Contrafund[®] Portfolio

MML Series Investment Fund

- MML Aggressive Allocation Fund
- MML Balanced Allocation Fund
- MML Blue Chip Growth Fund
- MML Conservative Allocation Fund
- MML Equity Income Fund
- MML Equity Index Fund
- MML Focused Equity Fund
- MML Foreign Fund
- MML Fundamental Growth Fund
- MML Fundamental Value Fund
- MML Global Fund
- MML Growth Allocation Fund
- MML Growth & Income Fund
- MML Income & Growth Fund
- MML Large Cap Growth Fund
- MML Managed Volatility Fund
- MML Mid Cap Growth Fund
- MML Mid Cap Value Fund
- MML Moderate Allocation Fund
- MML PIMCO Total Return Fund
- MML Small Cap Growth Equity Fund
- MML Small/Mid Cap Value Fund

MML Series Investment Fund II

- MML Blend Fund
- · MML Equity Fund
- MML High Yield Fund
- MML Inflation-Protected and Income Fund
- MML Managed Bond Fund
- MML Money Market Fund
- MML Short-Duration Bond Fund
- MML Small Cap Equity Fund

Oppenheimer Variable Account Funds

- Oppenheimer Capital Appreciation Fund/VA
- Oppenheimer Capital Income Fund/VA*
- Oppenheimer Core Bond Fund/VA**
- Oppenheimer Discovery Mid Cap Growth Fund/VA
- Oppenheimer Global Fund/VA
- Oppenheimer Global Strategic Income Fund/VA
- · Oppenheimer International Growth Fund/VA
- Oppenheimer Main Street Fund®/VA
- Oppenheimer Money Fund/VA***

PIMCO Variable Insurance Trust

PIMCO CommodityRealReturn[®] Strategy Portfolio

Voya Investors Trust

VY Clarion Global Real Estate Portfolio

- * Unavailable in certificates issued on or after 4/30/2012.
- ** Effective 5/1/2009 and after, you may not allocate any new money to this fund via purchase payments or transfers.
- *** Unavailable in certificates issued on or after 1/19/2008.

Please read this prospectus before investing. You should keep it for future reference. It contains important information about the Panorama Premier variable annuity.

To learn more about the Panorama Premier certificate, you can obtain a copy of the Statement of Additional Information (SAI), dated May 1, 2014. We filed the SAI with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and it is legally a part of this prospectus. The SEC maintains a website (http://www.sec.gov) that contains the SAI, material incorporated by reference and other information regarding companies that file electronically with the SEC. The Table of Contents of the SAI is on page 47 of this prospectus. For a free copy of the SAI, or for general inquiries, call our Service Center at (800) 272-2216 or write to our Service Center using the following address: MassMutual Financial Group, Document Management Services - Annuities W360, P.O. Box 9067, Springfield, MA 01102-9067. (Overnight Mail Address: MassMutual Financial Group, Document Management Services -Annuities W360, 1295 State Street, Springfield, MA 01111-0111)

This prospectus is not an offer to sell the certificate in any jurisdiction where it is illegal to offer the certificate nor is it an offer to sell to anyone to whom it is illegal to offer the certificate.

The certificate:

- is not a bank or credit union deposit or obligation.
- is not FDIC or NCUA insured.
- is not insured by any federal government agency.
- is not guaranteed by any bank or credit union.
- may go down in value.
- provides guarantees that are subject to our financial strength and claims-paying ability.

The SEC has not approved or disapproved the contract or determined that this prospectus is accurate or complete. Any representation that it has is a criminal offense.

Effective May 1, 2014

Table of Contents

	Page
Index of Special Terms	3
Contacting the Company	4
Overview	4
Table of Fees and Expenses	6
The Company	8
Ownership Contract Owner Participant Joint Participant Annuitant Beneficiary	8 8 8 8 8 9
Age How We Determine Age of Annuitant, Participant and Beneficiary	9 9
Additional Purchase Payments Purchase Payments Allocation of Purchase Payments	9 9 10
Replacement of Life Insurance or	
Annuities	11
Right to Cancel Your Certificate	11
Investment Choices The Separate Account Addition, Removal, Closure or Substitution	11 12
of Funds The Funds Asset Allocation Funds	12 12 15
Compensation We Receive from Funds, Advisers and Sub-Advisers The Fixed Accounts	16 16
Certificate Value Business Days & Non-Business Days	18 18
Transfers and Transfer Programs General Overview Transfers During the Accumulation Phase Limits on Frequent Trading and Market Timing Activity	18 18 18
Transfers During the Income Phase Transfer Programs	21 21

	Page
Withdrawals	22
Expenses	24
Insurance Charges	24
Mortality and Expense Risk Charge	24
Administrative Charge	24
Annual Certificate Maintenance Charge	24
Contingent Deferred Sales Charge	25
Free Withdrawals	26
Premium Taxes	26
Transfer Fee	26
Income Taxes	26
Fund Expenses	26
Annual Credit	26
The Income Phase	27
Annuity Options	29
Death Benefit	31
Taxes	35
Other Information	44
Distribution	44
Special Arrangements	45
Assignment	45
Unclaimed Property	45
Voting Rights	45
Changes to the Certificate	46
Suspension of Payments or Transfers	46
Termination of Certificate	46
Anti-Money Laundering	46
Our Ability to Make Payments Under the	
Contract	46
Our Financial Statements	47
Legal Proceedings	47
Additional Information	47
Appendix A	
Condensed Financial Information	51

Index of Special Terms

We have tried to make this prospectus as readable and understandable for you as possible. By the very nature of the certificate, however, certain technical words or terms are unavoidable. We have identified the following as some of these words or terms. The page that is indicated here is where we believe you will find the best explanation for the word or term.

	Page
Accumulation Phase	4
Accumulation Unit	18
Annuitant	8
Annuity Date	27
Annuity Options	28
Annuity Payments	27
Annuity Unit Value	28
Certificate	4
Certificate Anniversary	31
Claims-Paying Ability	46
Contract Owner	8
Free Withdrawals	26
Good Order	4
Income Phase	27
Non-Qualified	35
Participant	8
Purchase Payment	9
Qualified	36
Separate Account	12
Service Center	4
Tax Deferral	5

Contacting the Company

How to Contact Us. You may contact us by calling your registered representative or the MassMutual Customer Service Center (our Service Center) at (800) 272-2216 Monday through Friday between 8 a.m. and 8 p.m. Eastern Time. You may also e-mail us by visiting www.massmutual.com/secure/emailus. Additionally, you may write to our Service Center using the following address: MassMutual Financial Group, Document Management Services – Annuities W360, P.O. Box 9067, Springfield, MA 01102-9067 or to our overnight mail address at MassMutual Financial Group, Document Management Services – Annuities W360, 1295 State Street, Springfield, MA 01111-0111.

Sending Requests in Good Order. From time to time you may want to submit a request for a withdrawal, a change of beneficiary, or some other action. We can only act upon your request if we receive it in "good order." Contact our Service Center to learn what information we require for your request to be in "good order." Generally, your request must include the information and/or documentation we need to complete the action without using our own discretion to carry it out. Additionally, some actions may require that you submit your request on our form. We may, in our sole discretion, determine whether any particular transaction request is in good order, and we reserve the right to change or waive any good order requirements at any time. In addition to written requests, we may allow requests by facsimile, telephone or internet. Facsimile, telephone or internet transactions may not always be available. Facsimile, telephone and computer systems can experience outages or slowdowns for a variety of reasons. These outages or slowdowns may prevent or delay our receipt of your request.

Overview

The following is intended as a summary. Please read each section of this prospectus for additional detail.

We no longer sell the Panorama Premier variable annuity certificate. However, we do continue to administer the certificates and you may continue making additional purchase payments to your existing certificate.

The annuity certificate is an ownership interest issued by "us," Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company, to "you," the participant, under the group deferred variable annuity contract. This annuity certificate is a contract between the participant and MassMutual. The certificate is intended for retirement savings or other long-term investment purposes. In exchange for your purchase payments, we agree to pay you an income when you choose to receive it. You select the income period beginning on a date you designate. According to your certificate, this date must be at least 5 years from when you purchase the certificate. However, we currently allow you to select a date that is at least 30 days from when you purchase the certificate.

The certificate, like all deferred annuity certificates, has two phases – the accumulation phase and the income phase. Your certificate is in the accumulation phase until you decide to begin receiving annuity payments. During the accumulation phase we provide a death benefit. Once you begin receiving annuity payments, your certificate enters the income phase.

Certificate Type. This prospectus describes the individual certificates issued under the Panorama Premier deferred group variable annuity contract. The certificate provides for accumulation of certificate value and annuity payments on a fixed and/or variable basis.

The Prospectus and the Certificate. The prospectus and Statement of Additional Information (SAI) describe all material terms and features of your certificate. Certain non-material provisions of your certificate may be different than the general description in the prospectus and the SAI, and certain riders may not be available because of legal requirements in your state. See your certificate for specific variations since any such state variation will be included in your certificate or in riders or endorsements attached to your certificate.

Annuity Options. We make annuity payments based on the annuity option you elect. When you elect an annuity option you also elect among a number of features, including, but not limited to: duration, number of payees, payments to beneficiaries, and whether payments will be variable and/or fixed payments. See "The Income Phase."

Investment Choices. Through this certificate, you can choose to allocate your purchase payments among various investment choices. Your choices include over forty funds and three fixed accounts. See "Investment Choices."

Withdrawals. Subject to certain restrictions, you may periodically make partial withdrawals of your certificate value. If you make a full withdrawal of your certificate value, all your rights under the certificate will be terminated. Income taxes, tax penalties and a contingent deferred sales charge may apply to any withdrawal you request. See "Withdrawals," "Expenses – Contingent Deferred Sales Charge" and "Taxes."

Transfers. Subject to certain restrictions, you may periodically transfer certificate value among available investment choices. See "Transfers and Transfer Programs."

Death Benefit. A beneficiary may receive a benefit in the event of your death prior to the income phase. Once the income phase commences, payments upon death may be available to beneficiaries depending on the annuity option elected. See "Death Benefit" and "Income Phase."

Fees. Your certificate value will be subject to certain fees. These charges will be reflected in your certificate value and may be reflected in any annuity payments you choose to receive from the certificate. See "Expenses" and "Table of Fees and Expenses."

Taxation. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, has certain rules that apply to the certificate. These tax treatments apply to earnings from the certificate, withdrawals, death benefits and annuity options. See "Taxes."

Tax Deferral. You are generally not taxed on certificate earnings until you take money from your certificate. This is known as tax deferral. Tax deferral is automatically provided by tax-qualified retirement plans. There is no additional tax deferral provided when a variable annuity contract is used to fund a tax-qualified retirement plan. Investors should only consider buying a variable annuity to fund a qualified plan for the annuity's additional features such as lifetime income payments and death benefit protection.

Right to Cancel Your Certificate. You have a right to examine your certificate. If you change your mind about owning your certificate, you can generally cancel it within 10 calendar days after receiving it. However, this time period may vary by state. See "Right to Cancel Your Certificate."

Our Claims-Paying Ability. Any guarantees we make under the contract are subject to our financial strength and claims-paying ability. See "Other Information – Our Ability to Make Payments Under the Contract."

Table of Fees and Expenses

The following tables describe the fees and expenses that you will pay when buying, owning, and surrendering the certificate.

I. The first table describes the fees and expenses that you will pay at the time that you transfer the value between investment choices, or surrender the certificate. We do not deduct a sales charge when we receive a purchase payment, but we may assess a contingent deferred sales charge as noted below. Premium taxes may also be deducted, but are not reflected below.

Participant Transaction Expenses

	Curren	nt				Ì	Maxi	mum	
<i>Transfer Fee</i> During the Accumulation Phase	\$0				year; \$20 c	there	after, of th	, the 1	calendar lesser of ount
<i>Contingent Deferred Sales Charge</i> (as a percentage of purchase payment withdrawn or applied to certain annuity options*)	7% ¹						7%	0 ¹	
 * See Annuity Options E and F in "Income Phase – Annuity Options." ¹ Contingent Deferred Sales Charge Schedule 									
Year Since Purchase Payment was Accepted		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8 and later
Percentage		7%	6%	5%	4%	3%	2%	1%	0%

II. The next table describes fees and expenses you will pay periodically during the time you own the certificate, not including fees and expenses deducted by the funds you select.

Periodic Certificate Charges

Annual Certificate Maintenance Charge	Current \$30 ²	Maximum \$60
² Currently waived if certificate value is \$50,000 or greater when v \$100,000 as stated in the certificate.	we are to assess the charge, although	we reserve the right to raise this to
Separate Account Annual Expenses	Current	Maximum
(as a percentage of average account value		
in the separate account)		
Mortality and Expense Risk Charge	1.25%	1.25%
Administrative Charge	0.15%	0.25%
Total Separate Account Annual Expenses	1.40%	1.50%

Additional Participant Expenses for Elected Options

If you are under age 80 when we issue your certificate, for an additional charge you can elect the Ratchet Death Benefit as a replacement for the Basic Death Benefit which you automatically receive when you purchase the Panorama Premier certificate.

(deducted quarterly from your certificate value)

	Current	Maximum
Ratchet Death Benefit	0.15%3	0.35% if you were age 60 or less when we issued the certificate
		0.50% if you were age 61 through 70 when we issued the certificate
		0.70% if you were age 71 or older when we issued the certificate ⁴

³ The charge is a percentage on an annual basis of the daily value of your certificate value allocated to the funds and the fixed accounts, unless that charge exceeds the maximum charge, in which case the charge is the maximum charge.

⁴ The charge is a percentage on an annual basis of the daily value of your certificate value allocated to the funds.

Annual Fund Operating Expenses

While you own the certificate, if your assets are invested in any of the sub-accounts, you will be subject to the fees and expenses charged by the fund in which that sub-account invests. The first table shows the lowest and highest total operating expenses charged by any of the funds, expressed as a percentage of average net assets, for the year ended December 31, 2013 (before any waivers or reimbursements). More detail concerning each fund's fees and expenses that you may pay periodically during the time that you own the certificate, is contained in the second table below and each fund prospectus. Current or future expenses may be higher or lower than those shown.

Charge	Lowest	Highest
Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses that are deducted from fund assets, including		
management fees, distribution, and/or 12b-1 fees, and other expenses.	0.44%	1.23%

The following table provides more specific information about the total fund operating expenses of each fund. The fees and expenses reflected in this table are expressed as a percentage of average net assets for the year ended December 31, 2013 (before any waivers or reimbursements).

Investment Management Fees and Other Expenses

Fund Name	Management Fee	Other Expenses	12b-1 Fees	Acquired Fund Fees & Expenses	Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses
Fidelity [®] VIP Contrafund [®] Portfolio					
(Initial Class)	0.55%	0.09%			0.64%
Invesco V. I. Diversified Dividend Fund (Series I)	0.50%	0.22%		0.01%	0.73%1
Invesco V. I. Global Health Care Fund (Series I)	0.75%	0.35%		0.01%	$1.11\%^{1}$
Invesco V. I. Technology Fund (Series I)	0.75%	0.42%		—	1.17%
MML Aggressive Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	0.10%	0.09%		0.84%2	1.03%
MML Balanced Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	0.10%	0.03%		0.69% ²	0.82%
MML Blend Fund (Initial Class)	0.42%	0.04%			0.46%
MML Blue Chip Growth Fund (Initial Class)	0.75%	0.04%		—	0.79%
MML Conservative Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	0.10%	0.03%	_	0.66%2	0.79%
MML Equity Fund (Initial Class)	0.41%	0.03%			0.44%
MML Equity Income Fund (Initial Class)	0.75%	0.03%			0.78%
MML Equity Index Fund (Class I)	0.10%	0.34%			0.44%
MML Focused Equity Fund (Service Class I)	0.75%	0.15%	0.25%		1.15%
MML Foreign Fund (Initial Class)	0.89%	0.08%			0.97%
MML Fundamental Growth Fund (Service Class I)	0.70%	0.16%	0.25%		1.11%3
MML Fundamental Value Fund (Service Class I)	0.65%	0.14%	0.25%		1.04%
MML Global Fund (Class II)	0.60%	0.26%			0.86%4
MML Growth & Income Fund (Initial Class)	0.50%	0.07%		—	0.57%
MML Growth Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	0.10%	0.02%		0.78%2	0.90%
MML High Yield Fund (Service Class I)	0.60%	0.24%	0.25%	—	1.09%5
MML Income & Growth Fund (Initial Class)	0.65%	0.05%			0.70%
MML Inflation-Protected and Income Fund (Initial Class)	0.55%	0.22%			0.77%
MML Large Cap Growth Fund (Initial Class)	0.65%	0.05%			0.70%
MML Managed Bond Fund (Service Class)	0.39%	0.00%	0.25%	—	0.64%
MML Managed Volatility Fund (Initial Class)	0.75%	0.12%			0.87%

Fund Name	Management Fee	Other Expenses	12b-1 Fees	Acquired Fund Fees & Expenses	Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses
MML Mid Cap Growth Fund (Initial Class)	0.77%	0.04%			0.81%
MML Mid Cap Value Fund (Initial Class)	0.84%	0.05%6			0.89%
MML Moderate Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	0.10%	0.02%		0.73%2	0.85%
MML Money Market Fund (Initial Class)	0.47%7	0.04%			0.51%
MML PIMCO Total Return Fund (Service Class I)	0.50%	0.19%	0.25%		0.94%8
MML Short-Duration Bond Fund (Service Class I)	0.40%	0.15%	0.25%		0.80%9
MML Small Cap Equity Fund (Initial Class)	0.65%	0.07%	—		0.72%
MML Small Cap Growth Equity Fund (Initial Class)	1.03%	0.06%		0.03%2	1.12%
MML Small/Mid Cap Value Fund (Initial Class)	0.75%	0.05%	_		0.80%
Oppenheimer Capital Appreciation Fund/VA (Non-Service)	0.69%	0.12%			0.81%10
Oppenheimer Capital Income Fund/VA (Non-Service) ¹¹	0.74%	0.15%		0.01%	0.90%12
Oppenheimer Core Bond Fund/VA (Non-Service) ¹³	0.60%	0.20%		0.01%	0.81%14
Oppenheimer Discovery Mid Cap Growth Fund/VA (Non-Service)	0.71%	0.13%			0.84%15
Oppenheimer Global Fund/VA (Non-Service)	0.63%	0.14%			$0.77\%^{16}$
Oppenheimer Global Strategic Income Fund/VA (Non-Service)	$0.57\%^{17}$	0.17%		_	0.74%18
Oppenheimer International Growth Fund/VA (Non-Service)	0.95%	0.14%			1.09%19
Oppenheimer Main Street Fund [®] /VA (Non-Service)	0.66%	0.12%	_	_	0.78% ²⁰
Oppenheimer Money Fund/VA (Non-Service) ²¹	0.45%	0.16%			0.61%22
PIMCO CommodityRealReturn [®] Strategy Portfolio (Advisor Class)	0.74%	0.08%23	0.25%	0.12%24	1.19%25
VY Clarion Global Real Estate Portfolio (Class S) ²⁶	0.80%	0.18%	0.25%27		1.23%28

1. Invesco Advisers, Inc. ("Invesco") has contractually agreed to waive a portion of the Fund's management fee in an amount equal to the net management fee that Invesco earns on the Fund's investments in certain affiliated funds. This waiver will have the effect of reducing Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses that are indirectly borne by the Fund. Unless Invesco continues the fee waiver agreement, it will terminate on April 30, 2015. The fee waiver agreement cannot be terminated during its term.

2. Acquired Fund fees and expenses represent approximate expenses borne indirectly by the Fund in its most recent fiscal year through investments in other pooled investment vehicles. The amount of Acquired Fund fees and expenses may change in the coming year due to a number of factors including, among others, a change in allocation of the Fund's investments among other pooled investment vehicles.

3. MML Advisers has contractually agreed to cap the fees and expenses of the Fund (other than extraordinary litigation and legal expenses, Acquired Fund fees and expenses, interest expense, short sale dividend and loan expense, or other non-recurring or unusual expenses such as, for example, organizational expenses and shareholder meeting expenses) through April 30, 2015. The agreement can only be terminated by mutual consent of the Board of Trustees on behalf of the Fund and MML Advisers. The expenses shown for the Fund do not reflect this cap. If this table did reflect the cap, the Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses would be 1.10%.

4. MML Advisers has contractually agreed to cap the fees and expenses of the Fund (other than extraordinary litigation and legal expenses, Acquired Fund fees and expenses, interest expense, short sale dividend and loan expense, or other non-recurring or unusual expenses such as, for example, organizational expenses and shareholder meeting expenses) through April 30, 2015. The agreement can only be terminated by mutual consent of the Board of Trustees on behalf of the Fund and MML Advisers. The expenses shown for the Fund do not reflect this cap. If this table did reflect the cap, the Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses would be 0.80%.

5. MML Advisers has contractually agreed to (i) waive 0.10% of its management fees for the Fund through April 30, 2015, and (ii) cap the fees and expenses of the Fund (other than extraordinary litigation and legal expenses, Acquired Fund fees and expenses, interest expense, short sale dividend and loan expense, or other non-recurring or unusual expenses such as, for example, organizational expenses and shareholder meeting expenses) through April 30, 2015. The agreement can only be terminated by mutual consent of the Board of Trustees on behalf of the Fund and MML Advisers. The expenses shown for the Fund do not reflect this waiver and cap. If this table did reflect the waiver and cap, the Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses would be 0.94%.

6. Other Expenses include Acquired Fund fees and expenses, which represent approximate expenses borne indirectly by the Fund in its most recent fiscal year through investments in other pooled investment vehicles. The amount of Acquired Fund fees and expenses may change in the coming year due to a number of factors including, among others, a change in allocation of the Fund's investments among other pooled investment vehicles.

7. MML Advisers has agreed to voluntarily waive some or all of its management fees and, if necessary, reimburse some or all of the Fund's Other Expenses, in an attempt to allow the Initial Class shares of the Fund to maintain a 1-day yield of at least approximately 0.00%. MML Advisers may amend or discontinue this waiver at any time without advance notice.

8. MML Advisers has contractually agreed to cap the fees and expenses of the Fund (other than extraordinary litigation and legal expenses, Acquired Fund fees and expenses, interest expense, short sale dividend and loan expense, or other non-recurring or unusual expenses such as, for example, organizational expenses and shareholder meeting expenses) through April 30, 2015. The agreement can only be terminated by mutual consent of the Board of Trustees on behalf of the Fund and MML Advisers. The expenses shown for the Fund do not reflect this cap. If this table did reflect the cap, the Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses would be 0.90%.

9. MML Advisers has contractually agreed to cap the fees and expenses of the Fund (other than extraordinary litigation and legal expenses, Acquired Fund fees and expenses, interest expense, short sale dividend and loan expense, or other non-recurring or unusual expenses such as, for example, organizational expenses and shareholder meeting expenses) through April 30, 2015. The agreement can only be terminated by mutual consent of the Board of Trustees on behalf of the Fund and MML Advisers. The expenses shown for the Fund are currently at the cap.

10. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 0.80% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

11. This fund is unavailable in contracts/certificates issued on or after April 30, 2012.

12. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 0.67% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

13. This fund is unavailable in contracts/certificates issued on or after May 1, 2009 and if issued prior to this date, no new money may be allocated to this fund via purchase payments or transfers.

14. The Manager has voluntarily agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 0.75% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

15. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 0.80% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

16. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 1.00% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

17. The Manager has contractually agreed to waive the management fee it receives from the Fund in an amount equal to the management fee it receives from the Subsidiary (The Subsidiary is described in the Fund's prospectus.). This undertaking will continue in effect for so long as the Fund invests in the Subsidiary and may not be terminated unless approved by the Fund's Board of Trustees.

18. The Manager has voluntarily agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 0.75% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investments in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund, Oppenheimer Short Duration Fund and the Master Funds.

19. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 1.00% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

20. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the

annual rate of 0.80% for Non-Service Shares. The Manager will also waive fees and/or reimburse Fund expenses in an amount equal to the indirect management fees incurred through the Fund's investment in Oppenheimer Institutional Money Market Fund.

21. This fund is unavailable in contracts/certificates issued on or after January 19, 2008.

22. The manager has voluntarily undertaken to waive fees and/or reimburse expenses to the extent necessary to assist the Fund in attempting to maintain a positive yield. There is no guarantee that the Fund will maintain a positive yield. The Manager has contractually agreed to limit the Fund's expenses after payments, waivers and/or reimbursements and reduction to custodian expenses, excluding expenses incurred directly or indirectly by the Fund as a result of investments in other investment companies, wholly-owned subsidiaries and pooled investment vehicles, so that those expenses, as a percentage of daily net assets, will not exceed the annual rate of 0.50%.

23. Other Expenses reflect interest expense and is based on the amount incurred during the Portfolio's most recent fiscal year as a result of entering into certain investments, such as reverse repurchase agreements. Interest expense is required to be treated as a Portfolio expense for accounting purposes and is not payable to PIMCO. The amount of interest expense (if any) will vary based on the Portfolio's use of such investments as an investment strategy.

24. PIMCO has contractually agreed to waive the Portfolio's advisory fee and the supervisory and administrative fee in an amount equal to the management fee and administrative services fee, respectively, paid by the PIMCO Cayman Commodity Portfolio I Ltd. (the "Subsidiary") to PIMCO. The Subsidiary pays PIMCO a management fee and an administrative services fee at the annual rates of 0.49% and 0.20%, respectively, of its net assets. This waiver may not be terminated by PIMCO and will remain in effect for as long as PIMCO's contract with the Subsidiary is in place.

25. Total Annual Portfolio Operating Expenses excluding interest expense are 1.11%. Total Annual Portfolio Operating Expenses After Fee Waiver and/or Expense Reimbursement excluding interest expense are 0.99%.

26. Formerly known as ING Clarion Global Real Estate Portfolio.

27. Although this fee appears in the 12b-1 fee column of the table, the Fund defines this fee as a "Distribution and/or Shareholder Services (12b-1) Fee."

28. The Adviser is contractually obligated to limit expenses to 1.15% through May 1, 2015; the obligation does not extend to interest, taxes, brokerage commissions, extraordinary expenses, and Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses. The obligation will automatically renew for one-year terms unless: (i) the Adviser provides 90 days written notice of its termination and such termination is approved by the Portfolio's board; or (ii) the management agreement has been terminated. The obligation is subject to possible recoupment by the Adviser within 36 months of the waiver or reimbursement. In addition, the Adviser is contractually obligated to waive a portion of the management fee through May 1, 2015. Based upon net assets as of December 31, 2013, the management fee waiver for the Portfolio would be (0.01)%. There is no guarantee that the management fee waiver will continue after May 1, 2015. The management fee waiver will only renew if the Adviser elects to renew it. Notwithstanding the foregoing, termination or modification of this obligation requires approval by the Portfolio's board.

Examples

These Examples are intended to help you compare the cost of investing in the certificate with the cost of investing in other variable annuity contracts. These costs include participant transaction expenses, certificate fees, separate account annual expenses, and fund fees and expenses.

Examples Using Maximum Expenses

Example I assumes that you withdraw all your certificate value at the end of each year shown.

Example II assumes you do not withdraw any of your certificate value at the end of each year shown, or that you decide to begin the income phase at the end of each year shown and we do not deduct a contingent deferred sales charge. (Currently the income phase is not available until 30 days after you purchase your certificate).

Both Example I and Example II assume:

- that you invest \$10,000 in the certificate for the time periods indicated,
- that you allocate it to a sub-account that has a 5% gross return each year,
- that you elected the Ratchet Death Benefit and you were at least age 71, and not yet age 80 or older when we issued the certificate,
- that the maximum fees and expenses in the "Table of Fees and Expenses" apply, and
- that you selected one of two sub-accounts 1) the one that invests in the fund with the highest total operating expenses, or 2) the one that invests in the fund with the lowest total operating expenses.

Based on the above assumptions, your costs would be as shown in the following table. Your actual costs may be higher or lower.

	Example I				Example II			
Years	1	3	5	10	1	3	5	10
Sub-account with highest total operating expenses	\$992	\$1,543	\$2,103	\$3,759	\$351	\$1,070	\$1,810	\$3,759
Sub-account with lowest total operating expenses	\$918	\$1,321	\$1,726	\$3,021	\$272	\$836	\$1,426	\$3,021

Examples Using Current Expenses

Example I assumes that you withdraw all your certificate value at the end of each year shown.

Example II assumes you do not withdraw any of your certificate value at the end of each year shown, or that you decide to begin the income phase at the end of each year shown and we do not deduct a contingent deferred sales charge. (Currently the income phase is not available until 30 days after you purchase your certificate).

Both Example I and Example II assume:

- that you invest \$10,000 in the certificate for the time periods indicated,
- that you allocate it to a sub-account that has a 5% gross return each year,
- that you elected the Ratchet Death Benefit and you were at least age 71, and not yet age 80 or older when we issued the certificate,
- that the current fees and expenses in the "Table of Fees and Expenses" apply, and
- that you selected one of two sub-accounts 1) the one that invests in the fund with the highest total operating expenses, or 2) the one that invests in the fund with the lowest total operating expenses.

Based on the above assumptions, your costs would be as shown in the following table. Your actual costs may be higher or lower.

	Example I				Example II			
Years	1	3	5	10	1	3	5	10
Sub-account with highest total operating expenses	\$927	\$1,349	\$1,774	\$3,115	\$282	\$865	\$1,474	\$3,115
Sub-account with lowest total operating expenses	\$854	\$1,124	\$1,378	\$2,326	\$203	\$628	\$1,078	\$2,326

The examples using current expenses reflect the annual certificate maintenance charge of 30 as an annual charge of 0.04%. The examples using maximum expenses reflect the annual certificate maintenance charge of 60 as an annual charge of 0.08%.

The examples do not reflect any premium taxes. However, premium taxes may apply.

The examples should not be considered a representation of past or future expenses.

There is an accumulation unit value history in "Appendix A - Condensed Financial Information."

There is information concerning compensation payments we make to sales representatives in connection with the sale of the certificates in "Other Information – Distribution."

The Company

In this prospectus, "we," "us," "our" and "the Company" refer to Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company (MassMutual). MassMutual is a diversified financial services company providing life insurance, disability income insurance, long-term care insurance, annuities and retirement products to individual and institutional customers. MassMutual is organized as a mutual life insurance company. MassMutual's home office is located at 1295 State Street, Springfield, Massachusetts 01111-0001.

Ownership

Contract Owner

The contract owner is the person or non-natural person who maintains the ownership rights stated in the contract that are not delegated to the participants. The owner of the contract is usually an employer, trustee or other sponsor of a group that is comprised of participants. If the contract is purchased as part of an employee benefit plan, the plan may govern which ownership rights are maintained by the contract owner and which are delegated to participants.

Participant

In this prospectus, "you" and "your" refer to the participant. The participant is named at time of application. The participant can be an individual or a non-natural person (e.g., a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or certain other entities). We will not issue a certificate to you if you have passed age 85 as of the date we proposed to issue the certificate.

If your certificate is non-qualified and owned by a non-natural person, the certificate will generally not be treated as an annuity for tax purposes. This means that gain in the certificate will be taxed each year while the certificate is in the accumulation phase. This treatment is not generally applied to a certificate held by a trust or other entity as an agent for a natural person. Before purchasing a certificate to be owned by a non-natural person or before changing ownership on an existing certificate that will result in it being owned by a non-natural person, you should consult a tax adviser to determine the tax impact. See "Taxes – Non-Natural Owner."

As the participant of the certificate, you exercise all rights under the certificate. The participant names the beneficiary. You may change the participant of the certificate at any time prior to the annuity date by written request. If you change the participant, the change is subject to our approval. Changing the participant may result in tax consequences. On and after the annuity date, you continue as the participant.

Certificates under qualified plans, including section 457 deferred compensation plans, generally must be held by the plan sponsor or plan trustee. Except for TSAs, Keogh plans, and IRAs, an individual cannot be the participant under a certificate held to fund a qualified plan. Therefore, the individuals covered by the qualified plan have no ownership rights.

Joint Participant

Non-qualified certificates can be owned by joint participants. Unless prohibited by state law, only you and your spouse can be joint participants. We will not issue a certificate to you if either proposed joint participant has passed age 85 as of the date we proposed to issue the certificate. If there are joint owners, we require authorization from both joint owners for all transactions.

Annuitant

The annuitant is the person on whose life we base annuity payments. You designate the annuitant at the time of application. We will not issue a certificate to you if the proposed annuitant has passed age 85 as of the date we proposed to issue the certificate. You may change the annuitant before the annuity date, subject to our approval. However, the annuitant may not be changed on a certificate owned by a non-natural person unless the certificate was issued under a plan pursuant to IRS Code Section 401(a), 408(a), 408(b) or 408A. We will use the age of the annuitant to determine all applicable benefits under a certificate owned by a non-natural person.

Beneficiary

The beneficiary is the person(s) or entity you name to receive any death benefit. You name the beneficiary at the time of application. You may change the beneficiary at any time before you die. To change the irrevocable beneficiary, we must receive written authorization on our form in good order at our Service Center from the irrevocable beneficiary.

If you are married and your certificate is issued under an ERISA plan, your ability to name a primary beneficiary other than your spouse is restricted.

Age

How We Determine Age of Annuitant, Participant and Beneficiary

In this prospectus the term "age," except when discussed in regards to specific tax provisions, is defined as "insurance age," which is a person's age on his/her birthday nearest the date for which the age is being determined. This means we calculate your age based on your nearest birthday, which could be either your last birthday or your next. For example, age 80 is generally the period of time between age 79 years, 6 months and 1 day and age 80 and 6 months.

Additional Purchase Payments

We no longer sell the Panorama Premier variable annuity certificate. However, we do continue to administer the certificates and you may continue making additional purchase payments to your existing certificate.

Purchase Payments

The minimum amount we accept for your initial purchase payment is:

- \$5,000 when the certificate is bought as a non-qualified certificate; or
- \$2,000 if you are buying the certificate as part of an IRA (Individual Retirement Annuity), 401(k) or other qualified plan.

If, when you applied for your certificate, you elected to make purchase payments under our automatic investment plan option, we allow you to satisfy the minimum initial payment requirement by making 12 consecutive monthly payments of as little as:

- \$416.66 for a non-qualified certificate, or
- \$166.66 for a qualified certificate.

Additional payments of less than \$250 are subject to our approval.

The maximum amount of cumulative purchase payments we accept without our prior approval is based on your age when we issued the certificate. The maximum amount is:

- \$1 million up to age 75; or
- \$500,000 if older than age 75.

If the participant is not a natural person, these purchase payment limits will apply to the annuitant's age. If there are joint participants, age refers to the oldest participant.

Age is as of the nearest birthday. For example, age 80 is generally the period of time between age 79 years, 6 months and 1 day and age 80 and 6 months. See "Age."

You can make additional purchase payments:

• By mailing your check, that clearly indicates your name and certificate number, to our lockbox:

First Class Mail

MassMutual Panorama Premier NY/NJ Annuity Payment Services MassMutual P.O. Box 74908 Chicago, IL 60675-4908

Overnight Mail

MassMutual Panorama Premier NY/NJ Annuity Payment Services 350 North Orleans Street Receipt & Dispatch, 8th Floor Suite 4908 Chicago, IL 60654

• By instructing your bank to wire transfer funds to:

JP Morgan Chase Bank New York, New York ABA #021000021 MassMutual Account #323956297 Ref: Annuity Certificate # Name: (Your Name)

You may also send purchase payments to our Service Center. We have the right to reject any application or purchase payment.

Automatic Investment Plan (AIP). Under the AIP, you may authorize us to periodically draw funds from an account of your choosing (restrictions may apply) for the purpose of making purchase payments to your certificate. Contact our Service Center for information regarding setting up an AIP and any restrictions regarding use of AIP.

Allocation of Purchase Payments

When you purchase your certificate, we will apply your purchase payment among the investment choices according to the allocation instructions you provide. If you make additional purchase payments and do not provide new allocation instructions, we will apply each according to the allocation instructions we have on record.

Once we receive your initial purchase payment and the necessary information at our Service Center or lockbox, we will issue your certificate and apply your initial purchase payment within 2 business days. If you do not give us all of the information we need, we will notify you. When we receive all of the necessary information, we will then apply your initial purchase payment within 2 business days. If for some reason we are unable to complete this process within 5 business days, we will either send back your money or get your permission to keep it until we receive all of the necessary information.

If you add more money to your certificate by making additional purchase payments, we will credit these amounts to your certificate on the business day we receive them and all necessary information in good order at our Service Center or lockbox. If we receive your purchase payment at our Service Center or lockbox on a non-business day or after the business day closes, we will credit the amount to your certificate effective the next business day. Our business day closes when the New York Stock Exchange closes, usually 4:00 p.m. Eastern time.

Replacement of Life Insurance or Annuities

A "replacement" occurs when a new policy or contract is purchased and, in connection with the sale, an existing policy or contract is surrendered, lapsed, forfeited, assigned to the replacing insurer, otherwise terminated, or used in a financed purchase. A "financed purchase" occurs when the purchase of a new life insurance policy or annuity contract involves the use of funds obtained from the values of an existing life insurance policy or annuity contract through withdrawal, surrender or loan.

There are circumstances in which replacing your existing life insurance policy or annuity contract can benefit you. As a general rule, however, replacement is not in your best interest. Accordingly, you should make a careful comparison of the costs and benefits of your existing policy or contract and the proposed policy or contract to determine whether replacement is in your best interest. You should be aware that the person selling you the new policy or contract will generally earn a commission if you buy the new policy or contract through a replacement. Remember that if you replace a policy or contract with another policy or contract, you might have to pay a surrender charge on the replaced policy or contract, and there may be a new surrender charge period for the new policy or contract. In addition, other charges may be higher (or lower) and the benefits may be different.

If you purchase the contract described in this prospectus in exchange for an existing policy or contract from another company, we may not receive your initial purchase payment from the other company for a substantial period of time after we receive your signed application.

You should also note that once you have replaced your variable life insurance policy or annuity contract, you generally cannot reinstate it even if you choose not to accept your new variable life insurance policy or annuity contract during your "free look" period. The only exception to this rule would be if your previously issued contract was issued in a state that requires the insurer to reinstate the previously surrendered policy or contract if the owner chooses to reject their new variable life insurance policy or annuity contract during the "free look" period.

Right to Cancel Your Certificate

You have a right to examine your certificate. If you change your mind about owning your certificate, you can cancel it within 10 calendar days after receiving it. When you cancel the certificate within this time period, we will not assess a contingent deferred sales charge. You will receive your certificate value as of the business day we receive your certificate and your written request in good order at our Service Center, and your certificate will be terminated. If you purchase this certificate as an IRA, we will return the greater of your purchase payments less any withdrawals you took, or the certificate value.

Investment Choices

Choose Investment Choices Appropriate for You. When electing among your available investment choices consider your circumstances, investment goals, financial situation and risk tolerance. After you elect investment choices for your initial purchase payment, you should monitor and periodically re-evaluate your allocations to determine if they are still appropriate. Through the certificate we offer a number of investment choices, but we do not recommend or endorse any particular investment choice and we do not provide investment advice. Because investment risk is borne by you, carefully consider your investment choice elections.

Understand the Risks Associated with Your Investment Choices. If your certificate value is allocated to a fund, your certificate value will be influenced by the investment performance of that fund. You will want to read the fund prospectus, especially the section discussing the risks of investing in the fund. We will deliver current fund prospectuses and/or current summary fund prospectuses to you. You may also contact our Service Center to request current fund prospectuses and summary fund prospectuses. Summary fund prospectuses for certain funds may be unavailable.

Be Informed. Read this prospectus. Also review information about the funds: the fund prospectus, statement of additional information, annual report and semiannual report.

The Separate Account

We established Massachusetts Mutual Variable Annuity Separate Account 4 (separate account) as a separate account under Massachusetts law on July 9, 1997. The separate account is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as a unit investment trust under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

The separate account holds the assets that underlie the certificates, except those assets allocated to our general account. We keep the separate account assets separate from the assets of our general account and other separate accounts. The separate account is divided into sub-accounts, each of which invests exclusively in a single investment choice.

We own the assets of the separate account. We credit gains to, or charge losses against, the separate account, whether or not realized, without regard to the performance of other investment accounts. The separate account's assets may not be used to pay any of our liabilities other than those arising from the certificates. If the separate account's assets exceed the required reserves and other liabilities, we may transfer the excess to our general account. The obligations of the separate account are not our generalized obligations and will be satisfied solely by the assets of the separate account.

We have claimed an exclusion from the definition of the term "Commodity Pool Operator" under the Commodity Exchange Act (CEA) with respect to the separate account. Therefore, we are not subject to registration or regulation as a Commodity Pool Operator under the CEA with respect to the separate account.

Addition, Removal, Closure or Substitution of Funds

We have the right to change the funds offered through the certificate, but only as permitted by law. If the law requires, we will also get your approval and the approval of any appropriate regulatory authorities. Changes may only impact certain certificate owners. Examples of possible changes include: adding new funds or fund classes; removing existing funds or fund classes; closing existing funds or fund classes; or substituting a fund with a different fund. New or substitute funds may have different fees and expenses. We will not add, remove, close or substitute any shares attributable to your interest in a sub-account of the separate account without notice to you and prior approval of the SEC, to the extent required by applicable law. We reserve the right to transfer separate account assets to another separate account that we determine to be associated with the class of certificates to which your certificate belongs.

The Funds

The certificate offers the following funds. We may add, remove, close or substitute funds.

Fund Type	Investment Funds in Which the Sub-Accounts Purchase Shares	Investment Fund's Adviser and Sub-Adviser	
Asset A	Asset Allocation		
	MML Aggressive Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	MML Balanced Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	MML Conservative Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	MML Growth Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	MML Moderate Allocation Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
Money	Market		
	MML Money Market Fund (Initial Class) ¹	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: Babson Capital Management LLC	
	Oppenheimer Money Fund/VA (Non-Service)*, 2	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.	
		Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.	

Fund Type	Investment Funds in Which the Sub-Accounts Purchase Shares	Investment Fund's Adviser and Sub-Adviser
Fixed I	Income	
	MML High Yield Fund (Service Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Babson Capital Management LLC
	MML Inflation-Protected and Income Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Babson Capital Management LLC
	MML Managed Bond Fund (Service)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Babson Capital Management LLC
	MML PIMCO Total Return Fund (Service Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Pacific Investment Management Company LLC
	MML Short-Duration Bond Fund (Service Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Babson Capital Management LLC
	Oppenheimer Core Bond Fund/VA (Non-Service)**	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.
		Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
	Oppenheimer Global Strategic Income Fund/VA	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.
	(Non-Service)	Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
Balanc	ed	
	MML Blend Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Babson Capital Management LLC
	Oppenheimer Capital Income Fund/VA	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.
	(Non-Service)***	Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
Large (Cap Value	
	MML Equity Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		<i>Sub-Advisers:</i> OppenheimerFunds, Inc. and Loomis, Sayles & Company, L.P.
	MML Equity Income Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
	MML Fundamental Value Fund (Service Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		<i>Sub-Adviser:</i> Wellington Management Company, LLP
	MML Income & Growth Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: BlackRock Investment Management, LLC
Large (Cap Blend	
	Fidelity® VIP Contrafund® Portfolio (Initial Class)	Adviser: Fidelity Management & Research Company
		Sub-Adviser: FMR Co., Inc.
	Invesco V.I. Diversified Dividend Fund (Series I)	Adviser: Invesco Advisers, Inc.
		Sub-Adviser: N/A
	MML Equity Index Fund (Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC

Sub-Adviser: Northern Trust Investments, Inc.

Fund Type	Investment Funds in Which the Sub-Accounts Purchase Shares	Investment Fund's Adviser and Sub-Adviser
Large (Cap Blend (continued)	
	MML Focused Equity Fund (Service Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Harris Associates L.P.
	MML Growth & Income Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		<i>Sub-Adviser:</i> Massachusetts Financial Services Company
	Oppenheimer Main Street Fund®/VA (Non-Service)	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.
		Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
Large (Cap Growth	
	MML Blue Chip Growth Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
	MML Fundamental Growth Fund (Service Class I)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		<i>Sub-Adviser:</i> Wellington Management Company, LLP
	MML Large Cap Growth Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Rainier Investment Management, LLC
	Oppenheimer Capital Appreciation Fund/VA	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.
	(Non-Service)	Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
Small/I	Mid Cap Value	
	MML Mid Cap Value Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: American Century Investment Management, Inc.
	MML Small/Mid Cap Value Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: AllianceBernstein L.P.
Small/	Mid Cap Blend	
	MML Small Cap Equity Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
Small/	Mid Cap Growth	
	MML Mid Cap Growth Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
	MML Small Cap Growth Equity Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Advisers: Waddell & Reed Investment Management Company and Wellington Management Company, LLP
	Oppenheimer Discovery Mid Cap Growth Fund/VA	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.
	(Non-Service)	Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.
Interna	ntional/Global	
	MML Foreign Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Templeton Investment Counsel, LLC
	MML Global Fund (Class II)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC
		Sub-Adviser: Massachusetts Financial Services
		Company

Fund Type	Investment Funds in Which the Sub-Accounts Purchase Shares	Investment Fund's Adviser and Sub-Adviser	
Interna	International/Global (continued)		
	Oppenheimer Global Fund/VA (Non-Service)	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.	
		Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.	
	Oppenheimer International Growth Fund/VA	Adviser: OFI Global Asset Management, Inc.	
	(Non-Service)	Sub-Adviser: OppenheimerFunds, Inc.	
Special	lty		
	Invesco V.I. Global Health Care Fund (Series I)	Adviser: Invesco Advisers, Inc.	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	Invesco V.I. Technology Fund (Series I)	Adviser: Invesco Advisers, Inc.	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	MML Managed Volatility Fund (Initial Class)	Adviser: MML Investment Advisers, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: Gateway Investment Advisers, LLC	
	PIMCO CommodityRealReturn® Strategy Portfolio (Advisor Class)	Adviser: Pacific Investment Management Company LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: N/A	
	VY Clarion Global Real Estate Portfolio (Class S) ³	Adviser: Voya Investments, LLC	
		Sub-Adviser: CBRE Clarion Securities LLC	

* Unavailable in certificates issued on or after January 19, 2008.

** Effective May 1, 2009 and after, you may not allocate any new money to this fund via purchase payments or transfers.

1 An investment in the MML Money Market Fund is not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency. Although the Fund seeks to maintain a stable net asset value per share, it is possible to lose money by investing in the Fund. The yield of this Fund may become very low during periods of low interest rates. After deduction of Separate Account charges, the yield in the sub-account that invests in this Fund could be negative.

2 An investment in a Money Market Fund is not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency. Although the Fund seeks to preserve the value of your investment at \$1.00 per share, it is possible to lose money by investing in the Fund. The yield of this Fund may become very low during periods of low interest rates. After deduction of Separate Account charges, the yield in the sub-account that invests in this Fund could be negative.

3 Formerly known as ING Clarion Global Real Estate Portfolio.

There is no assurance that the funds will achieve their stated objective. The fund prospectuses contain more detailed information about the funds. We will deliver current fund prospectuses and/or current summary fund prospectuses to you. You may also contact our Service Center to request current fund prospectuses and summary fund prospectuses. Summary fund prospectuses for certain funds may be unavailable. You should read the information contained in the fund prospectuses carefully before investing.

Asset Allocation Funds

The following asset allocation funds are also referred to as funds-of-funds. They are known as funds-of-funds because they invest in other underlying funds. A fund offered in a fund-of-funds structure may have higher expenses than a direct investment in the underlying funds because a fund-of-funds bears its own expenses and indirectly bears its proportionate share of expenses of the underlying funds in which it invests. You should read the MML Series Investment Fund prospectus for more information about these funds-of-funds.

- MML Aggressive Allocation Fund
- MML Balanced Allocation Fund
- MML Conservative Allocation Fund
- MML Growth Allocation Fund
- MML Moderate Allocation Fund

^{***} Unavailable in certificates issued on or after April 30, 2012.

Compensation We Receive from Funds, Advisers and Sub-Advisers

Compensation We Receive from Advisers and Sub-Advisers. We and certain of our insurance affiliates receive compensation from the advisers and sub-advisers to some of the funds. We may use this compensation for any corporate purpose, including paying expenses that we incur in promoting, issuing, distributing and administering the certificate and, providing services, on behalf of the funds, in our role as intermediary to the funds. The amount of this compensation is determined by multiplying a specified annual percentage rate by the average net assets held in that fund that are attributable to the variable annuity and variable life insurance products issued by us and our affiliates that offer the particular fund (MassMutual's variable contracts). These percentage rates differ, but currently do not exceed 0.25%. Some advisers and sub-advisers pay us more than others; some do not pay us any such compensation.

The compensation is not reflected in the expenses that are disclosed for the funds in "Table of Fees and Expenses – Annual Fund Operating Expenses" because this compensation is not paid directly out of the funds' assets. However, these payments may be derived, in whole or in part, from the advisory fee deducted from fund assets. Participants, through their indirect investment in the funds, bear the costs of these advisory fees (see the funds' prospectuses for more information).

In addition, we may receive fixed dollar payments from the advisers and sub-advisers to certain funds so that the adviser and sub-adviser can participate in sales meetings conducted by MassMutual. Attending such meetings provides advisers and sub-advisers with opportunities to discuss and promote their funds. For a list of the funds whose advisers and sub-advisers currently pay such compensation, visit www.massmutual.com/ legal/compagreements or call our Service Center at the number shown on page 1 of this prospectus.

Compensation We Receive from Funds. We and certain of our affiliates also receive compensation from certain funds pursuant to Rule 12b-1 under the Investment Company Act of 1940. This compensation is paid out of the fund's assets and may be as much as 0.25% of the average net assets of an underlying fund which are attributable to MassMutual's variable contracts. This compensation is specified as 12b-1 fees in the "Table of Fees and Expenses – Annual Fund Operating Expenses." An investment in a fund with a 12b-1 fee will increase the cost of your investment in this certificate.

Compensation and Fund Selection. When selecting the funds that will be available with MassMutual's variable contracts we consider each fund's investment strategy, asset class, manager's reputation, and performance. We also consider the amount of compensation that we receive from the funds, their advisers, sub-advisers, or their distributors. The compensation that we receive may be significant and we may profit from this compensation. Additionally, we offer certain funds through the contract at least in part because they are managed by us or an affiliate.

The Fixed Accounts

We offer three fixed accounts as investment choices: the fixed accounts for Dollar Cost Averaging (DCA Fixed Accounts) and The Fixed Account (collectively, the fixed accounts). The fixed accounts are investment choices within our general account.

Purchase payments allocated to the fixed accounts and transfers to the fixed accounts become part of our general account which supports insurance and annuity obligations. The general account has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (1933 Act) nor is the general account registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (1940 Act) because of exemptive and exclusionary provisions. Accordingly, neither the general account nor any interests therein are generally subject to the provisions of the 1933 Act or the 1940 Act. We have been advised that the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission has not reviewed the disclosures in this prospectus which relate to the fixed accounts or the general account. Disclosures regarding the fixed accounts or the general account, however, are subject to certain generally applicable provisions of the federal securities laws relating to the accuracy and completeness of statements made in this prospectus. For more information about our general account see "Other Information – Our Ability to Make Payments Under the Contract."

DCA Fixed Accounts. Each DCA Fixed Account is a fixed account from which assets are systematically transferred to any fund(s). You may not transfer your certificate value in a DCA Fixed Account to The Fixed Account. During the accumulation phase, you may choose to have your purchase payments allocated to a DCA Fixed Account for the period of the DCA Fixed Account Term (DCA Term). Your election must be in writing.

Currently, you have a choice of two DCA Fixed Accounts:

- a) DCA Fixed Account with a DCA Term of 6 months; or
- b) DCA Fixed Account with a DCA Term of 12 months.

To the extent permitted by law, we reserve the right to change the duration of the DCA Terms in the future. Your DCA Term will terminate upon payment of the death benefit. You may only participate in one DCA Fixed Account at a time.

How to Participate in the DCA Fixed Account. To participate in the DCA Fixed Account you must apply a new purchase payment of \$5,000 or greater to a DCA Term or provide us with evidence satisfactory to us that you will apply \$5,000 or more to a DCA Term via transfer(s) from another financial institution. Purchase payments which originate from an annuity contract issued by us or any of our affiliates cannot be allocated to a DCA Fixed Account. We reserve the right to reject purchase payments. You cannot transfer current certificate values into the DCA Fixed Account. The first DCA transfer will occur 5 business days after we receive all or a portion of the purchase payment into the DCA Fixed Account.

Any portion of the sum to be applied to the DCA Fixed Account that we receive after the start of the DCA Term, will be added to the amount in the current DCA Term and will participate only in the remaining period of that DCA Term. You may apply additional purchase payments to the current DCA term. Those additional purchase payments will be added to the amount in the current DCA Term and will participate only in the remaining period of the current DCA Term.

We make scheduled monthly transfers from the DCA Fixed Account. The first transfer will occur 5 business days after we receive your payment allocated to the DCA Fixed Account and a completed DCA Fixed Account election form. You may not take partial withdrawals from the DCA Fixed Account.

You may make a one-time transfer of your remaining certificate value in the DCA Fixed Account into any of the fund(s), prior to the expiration of your DCA Term. Your transfer will be effective on the business day we receive, in good order, your written request or telephone request at our Service Center. Our business day closes when the New York Stock Exchange closes, usually 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time. If we receive your transfer request in good order at our Service Center on a non-business day or after our business day closes, your transfer request will be effective on the next business day.

We reserve the right to assess a fee for processing transactions under the DCA Fixed Account.

If you elect to make an allocation to a DCA Fixed Account, but your annuity date will occur prior to the end of that DCA Term, your DCA Term will expire early. It will expire on your annuity date. We will transfer any certificate value remaining in the DCA Fixed Account on your annuity date in accordance with your DCA Fixed Account transfer instructions in effect at that time. No amounts will remain in the DCA Fixed Account after your annuity date.

We periodically set the interest rate we credit to the DCA Fixed Account. We will credit an interest rate at a rate not less than the minimum allowed by state law at the time we issue your certificate. We reserve the right to change the guaranteed minimum interest rate for newly issued certificates, subject to applicable state law. The interest rate you will receive for the entire DCA Term is the interest rate in effect on the date your DCA Term begins. We guarantee the interest rate for the full DCA Term.

The Fixed Account. You may allocate purchase payments to The Fixed Account. You can also make transfers of your certificate value into The Fixed Account. You do not participate in the investment performance of the assets in The Fixed Account. Instead, we credit your certificate with interest at a specified rate that we declare in advance. We will credit an interest rate at a rate not less than the minimum allowed by state law at the time we issue your certificate. We reserve the right to change the guaranteed minimum interest rate for newly issued certificates, subject to applicable state law.

Certificate Value

Your certificate value is the sum of your value in the separate account and the fixed account(s).

Your value in the separate account will vary depending on the investment performance of the funds you choose. In order to keep track of your certificate value in the separate account, we use a unit of measure called an accumulation unit. During the income phase of your certificate we call the unit an annuity unit.

Accumulation Units. Every business day we determine the value of an accumulation unit for each of the separate account sub-accounts. Changes in the accumulation unit value reflect the investment performance of the fund as well as deductions for insurance and other charges.

The value of an accumulation unit may go up or down from business day to business day.

The Statement of Additional Information contains more information on the calculation of the accumulation unit value.

When you make a purchase payment, we credit your certificate with accumulation units. We determine the number of accumulation units to credit by dividing the amount of the purchase payment allocated to a separate account sub-account by the value of the accumulation unit for that separate account sub-account. When you make a withdrawal, we deduct from your certificate accumulation units representing the withdrawal amount.

We calculate the value of an accumulation unit for each separate account sub-account after the New York Stock Exchange closes each business day. Any change in the accumulation unit value will be reflected in your certificate value.

Example. On Monday we receive an additional purchase payment of \$5,000 from you. You have told us you want this to go to the MML Managed Bond Fund. When the New York Stock Exchange closes on that Monday, we determine that the value of an accumulation unit for the MML Managed Bond Fund is \$13.90. We then divide \$5,000 by \$13.90 and credit your certificate on Monday night with 359.71 accumulation units for the MML Managed Bond Fund.

Business Days & Non-Business Days

Our business day closes when the New York Stock Exchange business day closes. The New York Stock Exchange business day usually closes at 4:00 p.m. Eastern time. Our non-business days are those days when the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

Transfers and Transfer Programs

General Overview

We have the right to terminate, suspend, or modify the transfer and transfer program provisions described in this prospectus.

You can transfer all or part of your certificate value. You can make transfers by telephone or by other means we authorize. To make transfers other than by telephone, you must submit a written request. We will use reasonable procedures to confirm that instructions given to us are genuine. We may tape record all telephone instructions.

Your transfer is effective on the business day we receive your request in good order at our Service Center. Our business day closes when the New York Stock Exchange closes, usually 4:00 p.m. Eastern time. If we receive your transfer request in good order at our Service Center on a non-business day or after our business day closes, your transfer request will be effective on the next business day.

Transfers During the Accumulation Phase

References to "The Fixed Account" pertain only to The Fixed Account and not the DCA Fixed Accounts. For DCA Fixed Account transfer rules see "Investment Choices – The Fixed Accounts – DCA Fixed Accounts."

You may transfer all or part of your assets in a fund or The Fixed Account. You can make a transfer to or from The Fixed Account and to or from any fund. During the accumulation phase we do not assess a transfer fee. However, we reserve the right to allow twelve free transfers per calendar year and charge for transfers in excess of twelve. The charge equals \$20 per transfer or 2% of the amount that is transferred, whichever is less.

The following rules apply to any transfer during the accumulation phase:

- 1) Currently, the minimum amount which you can transfer is:
 - \$100; or
 - the entire value in a fund, if less.

We reserve the right to impose a minimum transfer requirement of \$1,000. Currently, we do not require that a minimum amount remain in the fund after a transfer. However, we reserve the right to impose a requirement that \$1,000 remain in the fund after a transfer unless you transfer the entire fund value. We waive these requirements if the transfer is made in connection with the Rebalancing Program.

- 2) You must clearly indicate the amount and investment choices from and to which you wish to transfer.
- 3) During any certificate year, we limit transfers out of The Fixed Account to the greater of \$30,000 or 30% of your certificate value in The Fixed Account as of the end of the previous certificate year. However, if you transfer 30% of your certificate value in The Fixed Account for three consecutive certificate years, your transfer in the fourth consecutive certificate year may be for the entire amount in The Fixed Account, provided that you have not applied payments or transferred certificate year from the anniversary of the day we issued your certificate. Transfers out of The Fixed Account are done on a first-in, first-out basis. In other words, amounts attributed to the oldest purchase payments are transferred first; then amounts attributed to the next oldest purchase payments are transferred; and so on.
- 4) We consider The Fixed Account and a money market fund to be "competing accounts." Transfers between competing accounts are not allowed. For a period of ninety days following a transfer out of a competing account, no transfers may be made into the other competing account. In addition, for a period of ninety days following a transfer into a competing account, no transfers may be made out of the other competing account.

Limits on Frequent Trading and Market Timing Activity

This certificate and its investment choices are not designed to serve as vehicles for what we have determined to be frequent trading or market timing trading activity. We consider these activities to be abusive trading practices that can disrupt the management of a fund in the following ways:

- by requiring the fund to keep more of its assets liquid rather than investing them for long-term growth, resulting in lost investment opportunity; and
- by causing unplanned portfolio turnover.

These disruptions, in turn, can result in increased expenses and can have an adverse effect on fund performance that could impact all participants and beneficiaries under the certificate, including long-term participants who do not engage in these activities. Therefore, we discourage frequent trading and market timing trading activity and will not accommodate frequent transfers of certificate value among the funds. Organizations and individuals that intend to trade frequently and/or use market timing investment strategies should not purchase this certificate.

We have adopted policies and procedures to help us identify those individuals or entities that we determine may be engaging in frequent trading and/or market timing trading activities. We monitor trading activity to uniformly enforce those procedures. However, those who engage in such activities may employ a variety of techniques to avoid detection. Our ability to detect frequent trading or market timing may be limited by operational or technological systems, as well as by our ability to predict strategies employed by participants (or those acting on their behalf) to avoid detection. Therefore, despite our efforts to prevent frequent trading and the market timing of funds among the sub-accounts of the separate account, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identify and curtail every instance of trading of those who trade frequently or those who employ a market timing strategy or those who act as intermediaries on behalf of such persons. Moreover, our ability to discourage and restrict frequent trading or market timing may be limited by decisions of state regulatory bodies and court orders that we cannot predict.

In addition, some of the funds are available with variable products issued by other insurance companies. We do not know the effectiveness of the policies and procedures used by these other insurance companies to detect frequent trading and/or market timing. As a result of these factors, the funds may reflect lower performance and higher expenses across all certificates as a result of undetected abusive trading practices.

If we, or the investment adviser to any of the funds available with this certificate, determine that a participant's transfer patterns reflect frequent trading or employment of a market timing strategy, we will not allow the participant to submit transfer requests by overnight mail, facsimile transmissions, the telephone, our website, or any other type of electronic medium. Additionally, we may reject any single trade that we determine to be abusive or harmful to the fund. Orders for the purchase of fund shares may be subject to acceptance by the fund. Therefore, we reserve the right to reject, without prior notice, any fund transfer request if the investment in the fund is not accepted for any reason.

The funds may assess a redemption fee (which we reserve the right to collect) on shares held for a relatively short period. The prospectuses for the funds describe the funds' frequent trading and market timing policies and procedures, which may be more or less restrictive than the policies and procedures we have adopted. We have entered into a written agreement, as required by SEC regulation, with each fund or its principal underwriter that obligates us to provide to the fund promptly upon request certain information about the trading activity of individual participants, and to execute instructions from the fund to restrict or prohibit further purchases or transfers by specific participants who violate the frequent trading or market timing policies established by the fund.

Participants and other persons with interests in the certificates should be aware that the purchase and redemption orders received by the funds generally are "omnibus" orders from intermediaries, such as retirement plans or separate accounts funding variable insurance contracts. The omnibus orders reflect the aggregation and netting of multiple orders from individual owners of variable contracts and/or individual retirement plan participants. The omnibus nature of these orders may limit the funds in their ability to apply their frequent trading or market timing policies and procedures. It may also require that we restrict or prohibit further purchases or transfers as requested by a fund on all certificates owned by a participant whose trading activity under one variable certificate has violated a fund's frequent trading or market timing policy. If a fund believes that an omnibus order reflects one or more transfer requests from participants engaged in frequent trading or market timing activity, the fund may reject the entire omnibus order.

We will notify you in writing if we reject a transfer or if we implement a restriction due to frequent trading or the use of market timing investment strategies. If we do not accept a transfer request, no change will be made to your allocations per that request. We will then allow you to resubmit the rejected transfer by regular mail only.

Additionally, we may in the future take any of the following restrictive actions that are designed to prevent the employment of a frequent trading or market timing strategy:

- not accept transfer instructions from a participant or other person authorized to conduct a transfer;
- limit the number of transfer requests that can be made during a certificate year; and
- require the value transferred into a fund to remain in that fund for a particular period of time before it can be transferred out of the fund.

We will apply any restrictive action we take uniformly to all participants we believe are employing a frequent trading or market timing strategy. These restrictive actions may not work to deter frequent trading or market timing activity.

We reserve the right to revise our procedures for detecting frequent trading and/or market timing at any time without prior notice if we determine it is necessary to do so in order to better detect frequent trading and/or market timing, to comply with state or federal regulatory requirements, or to impose different restrictions on frequent traders and/or market timers. If we modify our procedures, we will apply the new procedure uniformly to all participants.

Transfers During the Income Phase

During the income phase, we allow 6 transfers each calendar year, and they are not subject to a transfer fee. You cannot transfer from the general account to a fund, but you can transfer from one or more funds to the general account once a certificate year. The minimum amount which you can transfer is \$1,000 or your entire interest in the fund, if less. After a transfer, the minimum amount which must remain in a fund is \$1,000 unless you have transferred the entire value.

Transfer Programs

For detailed rules and restrictions pertaining to these programs and instructions for electing a program contact our Service Center.

Overview. We currently offer the following transfer programs:

- 1) Dollar Cost Averaging Program;
- 2) Automatic Rebalancing Program; and
- 3) Interest Sweep Option.
- These programs are only available during the accumulation phase of your certificate;
- You may only participate in one of these programs at any one time;
- You may not participate in these programs if you have a current election of a DCA Fixed Account;
- We do not charge you for participation in these programs, though we reserve the right to charge for the programs in the future.

Dollar Cost Averaging Program. This program allows you to systematically transfer a set amount from a selected fund to any of the other funds. By allocating amounts on a regular schedule as opposed to allocating the total amount at one particular time, you may be less susceptible to the impact of market fluctuations. Dollar cost averaging does not assure a profit and does not protect you against loss in declining markets. Since dollar cost averaging involves continuous investment in securities regardless of fluctuating price levels of such securities, you should consider your financial ability to continue the program through periods of fluctuating price levels.

Your Dollar Cost Averaging Program will terminate:

- if you withdraw the total certificate value;
- upon payment of the death benefit;
- if the last transfer you selected has been made;
- if there is insufficient certificate value in the source fund to make the transfer; or
- if we receive from you, in good order, a written request or request over the telephone to terminate the program at our Service Center at least 5 business days prior to the next transfer date.

Automatic Rebalancing Program. Over time, the performance of each fund may cause your allocation to shift from your original allocation. You can direct us to automatically rebalance your certificate value allocated to the funds in order to return to your original percentage allocations by selecting our Automatic Rebalancing Program. Certificate value allocated to the fixed accounts cannot participate in the Automatic Rebalancing Program.

This program will terminate:

- if you withdraw the total certificate value;
- upon payment of the death benefit;
- if you request that we end the program (in writing or by telephone); or
- if we receive any unscheduled transfer request.

Interest Sweep Option. Under this program, we will automatically transfer earnings from your certificate value in The Fixed Account to any one fund or combination of funds that you select. By allocating these earnings to the funds, you can pursue further growth in the value of your certificate through more aggressive investments. However, the Interest Sweep Option does not assure a profit and does not protect against loss in declining markets.

This program will terminate:

- if, as the result of a withdrawal, you no longer have certificate value in The Fixed Account;
- if, at time of transfer, no interest is available for transfer (for example, if the interest earned is required to cover certificate related charges or has been part of a partial withdrawal);
- upon payment of the death benefit; or
- if we receive your written request or request over the telephone to terminate the program at least 5 business days prior to the next scheduled transfer date.

Withdrawals

Your ability to take a withdrawal may be restricted by certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Furthermore, if your certificate is issued under a qualified plan, your ability to take a withdrawal may be restricted by your plan documents. Income taxes, tax penalties, a contingent deferred sales charge and certain restrictions may apply to any withdrawal you make.

During the accumulation phase you may make either partial or total withdrawals of your certificate value.

When a partial withdrawal is made from a certificate, we reflect the withdrawal as a reduction to the value of the certificate's death benefit. We describe this reduction in the "Death Benefit" section. If we reflect the reduction as a percentage of certificate value withdrawn, the reduction will be greater when the value of your certificate investment choices is lower due to market performance or other variables. If you withdraw your full certificate value, the certificate terminates and does not provide a death benefit.

We will pay any full or partial withdrawal to the qualified plan trustee or plan administrator, if you purchased your certificate under a tax-qualified retirement plan, a non-qualified deferred compensation plan or a deferred compensation plan for a tax-exempt organization. The only exceptions are for required minimum distribution payments and for withdrawals from individually-owned qualified certificates or certificates owned under a governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan.

Unless you instruct us otherwise, we will take any partial withdrawal proportionally from your certificate value in the funds and The Fixed Account. When making a partial withdrawal, you must withdraw at least \$100 or the entire value in a fund or The Fixed Account, if less. We require that after you make a partial withdrawal you keep at least \$5,000 in a non-qualified certificate. For qualified certificates, the amount is \$2,000, unless your partial withdrawal is a minimum required distribution. Partial withdrawals may be subject to a contingent deferred sales charge.

When you make a total withdrawal you will receive the value of your certificate:

- less any contingent deferred sales charge, if applicable;
- less any applicable premium tax;
- · less any certificate maintenance charge, and
- less any purchase payments we credited to your certificate that have not cleared the bank, until they clear the bank.

We take withdrawals first from earnings and then from purchase payments. For purposes of the contingent deferred sales charge, we treat withdrawals as coming from the oldest purchase payments first.

Requests in Writing. To request a withdrawal in writing, submit in good order to our Service Center, our partial surrender or surrender form. If your withdrawal involves an exchange or transfer of assets to another financial institution, we also require a "letter of acceptance" from the financial institution.

Requests by Other Means. You may request certain partial and full withdrawals by other means such as telephone, facsimile or internet. Contact our Service Center for details.

Withdrawal Effective Date. For written requests, your withdrawal is effective on the business day we receive, in good order, at our Service Center: a) our partial surrender or surrender form; and b) if applicable, a "letter of acceptance." If we receive this item(s) at our Service Center on a non-business day or after our business day closes, your withdrawal request will be effective on the next business day. For telephone, facsimile or internet requests, your withdrawal is effective on the business day we receive your communication in good order. For communications received after the close of the business day, your withdrawal will be effective on the next business day.

Delivery of Withdrawal Amount. We will pay any withdrawal amount within 7 days of the withdrawal effective date, unless we are required to suspend or postpone withdrawal payments. See "Other Information – Suspension of Payments or Transfers."

Partial Withdrawals Used to Pay Investment Advisory Fees. Some participants have their assets managed by one or more investment advisers. The investment advisers may assess a fee for their services. Their fees are specified in the respective account agreements and are separate from and in addition to the certificate fees and expenses described in this prospectus. Some participants authorize their investment advisers to take one or more partial withdrawals from the certificate in order to collect advisory or investment management fees. Withdrawals taken from this certificate to pay such fees may be subject to a contingent deferred sales charge, income tax and/ or tax penalties. We encourage you to determine whether engaging in this activity is appropriate for you.

Systematic Withdrawal Program. For detailed rules and restrictions pertaining to this program and instructions for electing the program contact our Service Center.

The Systematic Withdrawal Program (SWP) allows you to set up automatic periodic withdrawals from your certificate value. We do not charge you for participation in the SWP but we reserve the right to charge in the future. We will take any withdrawal under this program proportionally from your certificate value in your selected investment choices.

Your SWP will end:

- if you withdraw your total certificate value;
- if the next systematic withdrawal will lower your certificate value below the minimum certificate value we allow following a partial withdrawal, unless your withdrawal is a minimum required distribution;
- if we receive, in good order, a notification of the participant's death;
- if your value in a selected fund or The Fixed Account is insufficient to complete the withdrawal;
- if we process the last withdrawal you selected;
- if you begin receiving annuity payments; or
- if you give us a written request or request over the telephone to terminate your program any time before or on the next withdrawal date.

Expenses

This section describes the charges and deductions we make under the certificate to compensate us for the services and benefits we provide, costs and expenses we incur and risks we assume. We may profit from the charges deducted and we may use any such profits for any purpose, including payment of distribution expenses. These charges and deductions reduce the return on your investment in the certificate. These charges and expenses are:

Insurance Charges

Each business day we deduct our insurance charges from the assets of the separate account. We do this as part of our calculation of the value of the accumulation units and the annuity units. The insurance charge has two parts: 1) the mortality and expense risk charge and 2) the administrative charge.

Mortality and Expense Risk Charge

This charge is equal, on an annual basis, to 1.25% of the daily value of the assets invested in each fund, after fund expenses are deducted. This charge is for:

- the mortality risk associated with the insurance benefits provided, including our obligation to make annuity payments after the annuity date regardless of how long all annuitants live, the death benefits, and the guarantee of rates used to determine your annuity payments during the income phase;
- the expense risk that the current charges will be insufficient to cover the actual cost of administering the certificate.

We cannot increase the mortality and expense risk charge. If the current mortality and expense risk charge in not sufficient to cover the mortality and expense risk, we will bear the loss. If the amount of the charge is more than sufficient to cover the mortality and expense risk, we will make a profit on the charge. We may use this profit for any purpose, including the payment of marketing and distribution expenses for the certificate.

Administrative Charge

This charge is equal, on an annual basis, to 0.15% of the daily value of the assets invested in each fund, after fund expenses are deducted. We assess this charge, together with the annual certificate maintenance charge, to reimburse us for all the expenses associated with the administration of the certificate and the separate account. Some of these expenses are: preparation of the certificate, confirmations, annual reports and statements, maintenance of certificate records, personnel costs, legal and accounting fees, filing fees, and computer and systems costs. We may increase this charge at any time while you own the certificate, but the charge will never exceed 0.25%. If we increase this charge, we will give you 90 days prior notice.

Annual Certificate Maintenance Charge

At the end of each certificate year, we deduct \$30 from your certificate as an annual certificate maintenance charge. We assess this charge, together with the administrative charge, to reimburse us for all the expenses associated with the administration of the certificate and the separate account. Some of these expenses are: preparation of the certificate, confirmations, annual reports and statements, maintenance of certificate records, personnel costs, legal and accounting fees, filing fees, and computer and systems costs. We may increase this charge at any time while you own the certificate, but the charge will never exceed \$60. If we increase this charge, we will give you 90 days prior notice. Currently, we will not deduct this charge if, when we are to make the deduction, the value of your certificate is \$50,000 or more. However, we reserve the right to increase the certificate value amount at which we will waive this charge to \$100,000 as provided by the certificate. Subject to state regulations, we will deduct the annual certificate maintenance charge proportionately from the investment choices you have selected. In no event, however, shall that portion of the annual certificate maintenance charge we deducted from the fixed account exceed \$30 during any certificate year.

If you make a total withdrawal from your certificate, and the certificate value is less than \$50,000, we will deduct the full annual certificate maintenance charge. If your certificate enters the income phase on a date other than its certificate anniversary and the certificate value is less than \$50,000, we will deduct a pro rata portion of the charge.

Contingent Deferred Sales Charge

We do not deduct a sales charge when we receive a purchase payment. However, we may assess a contingent deferred sales charge on any amount you withdraw that exceeds the free withdrawal amount. Additionally, we may assess a contingent deferred sales charge on amounts applied to Annuity Option E or F. We use this charge to cover certain expenses relating to the sale of the certificate.

If you withdraw:

- from more than one investment choice, we will deduct the contingent deferred sales charge proportionately from the amounts remaining in the investment choice(s) you selected.
- the total value from an investment choice, we will deduct the contingent deferred sales charge proportionately from amounts remaining in the investment choices that still have value.
- your entire certificate value, we will deduct the contingent deferred sales charge from the certificate value. You will receive a check for the net amount.

The amount of the charge depends on the amount of the purchase payments, the length of time since you made the purchase payments, and the amount of your withdrawal or, if applicable, the amount you apply to Annuity Option E or F. The contingent deferred sales charge is assessed as follows:

Year since Purchase Payment was Accepted	Charge
1st Year	7%
2nd Year	6%
3rd Year	5%
4th Year	4%
5th Year	3%
6th Year	2%
7th Year	1%
8th Year and thereafter	0%

After your purchase payment has been in the certificate for 7 years, there is no charge when you withdraw the purchase payment. Each purchase payment has its own 7-year sales charge period. We take withdrawals first from earnings, and then from purchase payments. For purposes of the contingent deferred sales charge, we treat withdrawals as coming from the oldest purchase payments first.

In addition to the free withdrawals described later in this section, we will not impose a contingent deferred sales charge under the following circumstances:

- Upon payment of the death benefit.
- Upon payment of a minimum required distribution attributable to this certificate that exceeds the free withdrawal amount.
- When you apply your certificate value to an annuity option (except as described under Annuity Options E and F).
- If certificate value has been applied to an annuity option providing guaranteed payments and upon the annuitant's death there are remaining guaranteed payments withdrawn by the beneficiary.
- If you redeem "excess contributions" from a plan qualifying for special income tax treatment. These types of plans are referred to as Qualified Plans, including Individual Retirement Annuities (IRAs). We look to the Internal Revenue Code for the definition and description of excess contributions.
- When the certificate is exchanged for another variable annuity certificate issued by us or one of our affiliated insurance companies, of the type and class which we determine is eligible for such an exchange. A contingent deferred sales charge may apply to the certificate received in the exchange. A reduced contingent deferred sales charge schedule may apply under this certificate if a variable annuity certificate issued by us or one of our affiliated insurance companies is exchanged for this certificate. Exchange programs may not be available in all states. We have the right to modify, suspend or terminate any exchange program any time without prior notification. If you want more information about our current exchange programs, contact your registered representative or us at our Service Center.
- If you are $59\frac{1}{2}$ or older, and you apply your entire certificate value;
 - to purchase a single premium immediate life annuity issued by us or one of our affiliates; or
 - to purchase a single premium immediate annuity certain with payments guaranteed for 10 years or more, issued by us or one of our affiliates.

We may also waive the contingent deferred sales charge if you surrender your certificate before April 30, 2015 and the proceeds of the surrender are used to purchase a new group annuity issued by us. The group annuity may be subject to charges upon withdrawal. Contact our Service Center for additional information.

Free Withdrawals

You may withdraw, without incurring a contingent deferred sales charge, the greater of:

- the part of your certificate value that is attributable to positive investment results, if any, on the date of withdrawal; or
- 10% of purchase payments made to your certificate as of the date of withdrawal reduced by any free withdrawal(s) you previously took during the current certificate year.

We take withdrawals first from any positive investment results, if any, and then from purchase payments. If you withdraw an amount which exceeds your investment gain, we will reduce the amount of your remaining purchase payments. We will calculate the contingent deferred sales charge based on your oldest purchase payments first.

Premium Taxes

Some states and other governmental entities charge premium taxes or similar taxes. We are responsible for the payment of these taxes and will make a deduction from your certificate value for them. Some of these taxes are due when your certificate value is issued, others are due when annuity payments begin. Currently we do not charge you for these taxes until you begin receiving annuity payments or you make a total withdrawal. We may discontinue this practice and assess the charge when the tax is due. Premium taxes generally range from 0% to 3.5%, depending on the state.

Transfer Fee

During the accumulation phase we do not assess a transfer fee. However, we reserve the right to allow twelve free transfers per calendar year and charge for transfers in excess of twelve. The charge equals \$20 per transfer or 2% of the amount that is transferred, whichever is less.

During the income phase, we allow 6 transfers, and they are not subject to a transfer fee.

Income Taxes

We will deduct from the certificate any income taxes which we incur because of the operation of the separate account. At the present time, we are not making any such deductions. We will deduct any withholding taxes required by law.

Fund Expenses

The separate account purchases shares of the funds at net asset value. The net asset value of each fund reflects expenses already deducted from the assets of the fund. Such expenses include investment management fees and other expenses and may include acquired fund fees and expenses. For some funds, expenses may also include 12b-1 fees to cover distribution and/or certain service expenses. When you elect a fund as an investment choice, that fund's expenses will increase the cost of your investment in the certificate. See each fund's prospectus for more information regarding these expenses.

Annual Credit

For certificates issued on or after September 10, 2001. Does not pertain to certificate value allocated to the fixed accounts.

If we issued you a certificate on or after September 10, 2001, we will increase your certificate value allocated to the funds by 0.15% on each certificate anniversary while your certificate is in effect. We will calculate this increase based on your certificate value allocated to the funds on your certificate anniversary. We will credit this increase proportionally to the funds you are invested in as of your certificate anniversary.

We pay this credit amount out of the revenues we receive for selling the certificates that are eligible for the credit. We provide this credit amount in lieu of reducing expenses directly. We will not subject this credit to the assessment of a contingent deferred sales charge upon withdrawal.

The Income Phase

Overview. If you want to receive regular income from your annuity, you can elect to apply your certificate value so that you can receive fixed and/or variable annuity payments under one of the annuity options described in this section. We may base annuity payments on the age and sex of the annuitant(s) under all options except Annuity Option E. We may require proof of age and sex before annuity payments begin.

If your certificate value is less than \$2,000 on the annuity date, we reserve the right to pay you a lump sum rather than a series of annuity payments. If any annuity payment is less than \$100, we reserve the right to change the payment basis to equivalent less frequent payments.

Annuity Payment Start Date. You can choose the month and year in which annuity payments begin. We call that date the annuity date. According to your certificate, your annuity date cannot be earlier than 5 years after you buy the certificate. However, we currently allow you to select an annuity date that is at least 30 days after you purchase your certificate. You may choose your annuity date when you purchase your certificate. After you purchase your certificate you can request an earlier annuity date by notifying us in writing at least 30 days before the annuity date. You can request that we delay your annuity date by notifying us in writing or by telephone any time before or on the annuity date.

Annuity payments must begin by the earlier of:

- 1) the 90th birthday of the annuitant or oldest joint annuitant;
- 2) your 90th birthday if you are not the annuitant or the 90th birthday of the oldest joint participant; or
- 3) the latest date permitted under state law.

Upon written request we will defer the annuity date up to the 100th birthday.

Electing an Annuity Option. On the annuity date, we must have written instructions in good order at our Service Center regarding your annuity option choice including whether you want fixed and/or variable payments.

If on the annuity date we do not have your instructions, we will assume you elected Option B with 10 years of payments guaranteed. We will use certificate value in the funds to provide a variable portion of each annuity payment and certificate value in The Fixed Account and the DCA Fixed Account, if any, to provide a fixed portion of each annuity payment. If your certificate was issued in conjunction with an ERISA plan, we may default you to a different annuity option in order to comply with ERISA requirements.

Required Minimum Distributions for Tax-Qualified Certificates. In order to avoid adverse tax consequences, you should begin to take distributions from your certificate no later than the beginning date required by the Internal Revenue Service. These distributions can be withdrawals or annuity payments. The distributions should be at least equal to the minimum amount required by the Internal Revenue Service or paid through an annuity option that complies with the required minimum distribution rules of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(9). If your certificate is an individual retirement annuity, the required beginning date should be no later than April 1 of the calendar year after you reach age $70 \frac{1}{2}$. For qualified plans and tax-sheltered annuities, that date is no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of: the year you reach age $70 \frac{1}{2}$ or the year in which you retire. The option of deferring to retirement is not available if you are a 5% or greater owner of the employer sponsoring your qualified plan.

Fixed Annuity Payments. If you choose fixed payments, the payment amount will not vary. The payment amount will depend upon the following:

- the value of your certificate on the annuity date;
- the annuity option you elect;
- the age and sex of the annuitant or joint annuitants, if applicable;
- the minimum guaranteed payout rates associated with your certificate;
- the deduction of a contingent deferred sales charge (may be deducted under Annuity Options E and F only); and
- the deduction of premium taxes, if applicable.

If the single premium immediate annuity rates offered by MassMutual on the annuity date are more favorable than the minimum guaranteed rates listed in your certificate, those rates will be used.

Variable Annuity Payments. If you choose variable payments, the payment amount will vary with the investment performance of the funds you elect. The first payment amount will depend on the following:

- the value of your certificate on the annuity date;
- the annuity option you elect;
- the age and sex of the annuitant or joint annuitants, if applicable;
- the minimum guaranteed payout rates associated with your certificate;
- an assumed investment rate (AIR) of 4% per year;
- the deduction of a contingent deferred sales charge (may be deducted under Annuity Options E and F only); and
- the deduction of premium taxes, if applicable.

Future variable payments will depend on the performance of the funds you elected. If the actual performance on an annualized basis exceeds the 4% assumed investment rate plus the deductions for expenses, your annuity payments will increase. Similarly, if the actual rate is less than 4% annualized plus the amount of the deductions, your annuity payments will decrease.

Annuity Unit Values. In order to keep track of the value of your variable annuity payment, we use a unit of measure called an annuity unit. The value of your annuity units will fluctuate to reflect the investment performance of the funds you elected. We calculate the number of your annuity units at the beginning of the income phase. During the income phase, the number of annuity units will not change unless you make a transfer; make a withdrawal as permitted under certain annuity options; or you elect an annuity option with reduced payments to the survivor and those payments to the survivor commence. The Statement of Additional Information contains more information on how annuity payments and annuity unit values are calculated.

Annuity Options. The available annuity options are listed in this section in the Annuity Options table. We may consent to other plans of payment in addition to those listed. After annuity payments begin, you cannot change the annuity option, the frequency of annuity payments, or make withdrawals, except as described under Annuity Options E and F.

Limitations on Annuity Options. If you purchased the certificate as a tax-qualified certificate, the Internal Revenue Code may impose restrictions on which annuity option you may elect. Furthermore, if your certificate is issued under an ERISA plan, and you are married when your certificate enters the income phase, your ability to elect certain annuity options may be limited and/or require spousal consent.

Annuity Options

We may consent to other plans of payment in addition to those listed, including a Joint and Last Survivor Annuity with Period Certain.

Lifetime Contingent Options		
Annuity Option A –	Number of Annuitants: one	
Life Income	<i>Length of Payment Period:</i> For as long as the annuitant lives.	
(variable and/or fixed payments)	<i>Annuity Payments After Death:</i> None. All payments end upon the annuitant's death.	
Annuity Option B –	Number of Annuitants: one	
Life Income with Period Certain	<i>Length of Payment Period:</i> For a guaranteed period of either 5, 10 or 20 years or as long as the annuitant lives, whichever is longer.	
(variable and/or fixed payments)	<i>Annuity Payments After Death:</i> When the annuitant dies, if there are remaining guaranteed payments, the beneficiary may elect to continue receiving remaining guaranteed payments or the beneficiary may elect a lump sum payment equal to the commuted value of the remaining guaranteed annuity payments.	
Annuity Option C –	Number of Annuitants: two	
Joint and Last Survivor Annuity	<i>Length of Payment Period:</i> For as long as either annuitant lives.	
(variable and/or fixed payments)	<i>Annuity Payments After Death:</i> 100% of the payment will continue to the surviving annuitant. No payments will continue after the death of both annuitants.	
Annuity Option D –	Number of Annuitants: two	
Joint and ² /3 Survivor Annuity	<i>Length of Payment Period:</i> For as long as either annuitant lives.	
(variable and/or fixed payments)	<i>Annuity Payments After Death:</i> Payments will continue during the lifetime of the surviving annuitant and will be computed on the basis of two-thirds of the annuity payment (or units) in effect during the joint lifetime. No payments will continue after the death of both annuitants.	

Non-Lifetime Contingent Options		
Annuity Option E – Number of Annuitants: one		
Period Certain Annuity	<i>Length of Payment Period:</i> For a specified period no less than five years and no greater than 30 years.	
(variable and/or fixed payments)	<i>Withdrawal Option/Switch Annuity Option:</i> If, after you begin receiving payments, you would like to receive all or part of the commuted value of the remaining guaranteed payments under this annuity option at any time, you may elect to receive it in a lump sum or have it applied to another annuity option. If you so elect, your future payments will be adjusted accordingly.	
	<i>Contingent Deferred Sales Charge:</i> In most states, we will deduct a contingent deferred sales charge if you apply your certificate value to this option and the period certain is less than 10 years. If it is permitted in your state, but we do not deduct a contingent deferred sales charge at that time, we will deduct a contingent deferred sales charge if you subsequently request a commuted lump sum payment to yourself or a commuted value to apply to another annuity option. We will waive the contingent deferred sales charge if you commence annuity payments because you have reached the latest permissible annuity payment start date (see (1), (2) and (3) under "The Income Phase – Annuity Payment Start Date").	
	<i>Annuity Payments After Death:</i> When the annuitant dies, if there are remaining guaranteed payments, the beneficiary may elect to continue receiving remaining guaranteed payments or the beneficiary may elect a lump sum payment equal to the commuted value of the remaining guaranteed annuity payments. We will not deduct a contingent deferred sales charge.	
Annuity Option F – Special Income Settlement	<i>Number of Annuitants:</i> Determined in accordance with terms agreed upon in writing by both you and us.	
<i>Agreement</i> (variable and/or fixed	<i>Length of Payment Period:</i> Determined in accordance with terms agreed upon in writing by both you and us.	
payments)	<i>Withdrawal Option/Switch Annuity Option:</i> If we agree to pay you a variable annuity payment for a specified period of time under this annuity option, and after you begin receiving payments, you would like to receive all or part of the commuted value of the payments under this annuity option at any time, you may elect to receive it in a lump sum or have it applied to another annuity option. If you so elect, your future payments will be adjusted accordingly.	
	<i>Contingent Deferred Sales Charge:</i> In most states, we will deduct a contingent deferred sales charge if you apply your certificate value to this option and the period certain is less than 10 years. If it is permitted in your state, but we do not deduct a contingent deferred sales charge at that time, we will deduct a contingent deferred sales charge if you subsequently request a commuted lump sum payment to yourself or a commuted value to apply to another annuity option. We will waive the contingent deferred sales charge if you commence annuity payments because you have reached the latest permissible annuity payment start date (see (1), (2) and (3) under "The Income Phase – Annuity Payment Start Date").	
	<i>Annuity Payments After Death:</i> When the annuitant dies, if there are remaining guaranteed payments, the beneficiary may elect to continue receiving remaining guaranteed payments or the beneficiary may elect a lump sum payment equal to the commuted value of the remaining guaranteed annuity payments. We will not deduct a contingent deferred sales charge.	

Death Benefit

Death of Participant During the Accumulation Phase. If you, or any joint participant, die during the accumulation phase, we will pay a death benefit to the primary beneficiary. If any joint participant dies, we will treat the surviving joint participant as the primary beneficiary and treat any other beneficiary designation, on record at the time of death, as a contingent beneficiary, unless both joint participants have submitted a written request to our Service Center, in good order, requesting otherwise.

Your beneficiary may request that the death benefit be paid under one of the death benefit options. If your certificate is a non-qualified certificate or is held as a traditional IRA (including SEP IRAs) or Roth IRA and the sole primary beneficiary is your surviving spouse, he or she may elect to become the participant of the certificate.

Death Benefit During the Accumulation Phase. The basic death benefit is the only death benefit available to participants purchasing certificates prior to May 1, 2000. Subject to state availability, if you purchased your certificate on or after May 1, 2000, you may select the ratchet death benefit. However, if you were age 80 or over when we issued your certificate, the ratchet death benefit is not available.

You select one of the available death benefits when we issue your certificate. After we issue your certificate, you may not change your death benefit selection.

If you select the ratchet death benefit, you will pay an additional charge. We will automatically pay a death benefit under the basic death benefit unless you have selected the ratchet death benefit.

Adjusted for Any Withdrawals or Less Any Withdrawals. In this prospectus we describe the formulas we use to determine death benefit amounts. In some formulas we use the language "adjusted for any withdrawals" and in other formulas we use the language "less any withdrawals." These phrases have different meanings.

Adjusted for Any Withdrawals. If you take a withdrawal, we adjust your death benefit by using the percentage of certificate value withdrawn to lower the death benefit by the same percentage. We use the phrase "adjusted for any withdrawals" to describe this treatment of withdrawals within our formulas. Because this adjustment uses the percent of certificate value withdrawn, the reduction will be greater when the value of your certificate investment choices is lower due to market performance or other variables.

Less Any Withdrawals. If you take a withdrawal, we lower your death benefit by subtracting the dollar amount of the withdrawal. We use the phrase "less any withdrawals" to describe this treatment of withdrawals within our formulas.

References to Age. Age is as of the nearest birthday. For example, age 80 is generally the period of time between age 79 years, 6 months and 1 day and age 80 and 6 months. See "Age."

Basic Death Benefit. The death benefit paid will be the amount calculated (and adjusted for any applicable charges) as of the business day we receive proof of death and election of the payment method in good order at our Service Center. The basic death benefit before you or the oldest joint participant reaches age 75 will be the greater of:

- 1) your certificate value; or
- 2) your purchase payments, less any withdrawals and any applicable charges; or
- 3) your certificate value on the most recent 3 year certificate anniversary, plus any subsequent purchase payments, less any subsequent withdrawals including any applicable charges. Your first certificate anniversary is one calendar year from the date we issued your certificate.

For certificates issued on or after October 1, 2003, subject to state approval and implementation, the word "less" is replaced with the words "adjusted for." See "Death Benefit – Adjusted for Any Withdrawals or Less Any Withdrawals."

After you or the oldest joint participant reaches age 75, the death benefit during the accumulation period will be the greater of:

- 1) your certificate value; or
- 2) your purchase payments, less any withdrawals and any applicable charges; or

3) your certificate value on the most recent 3 year certificate anniversary prior to the participant or the oldest joint participant reaching age 75, plus any subsequent purchase payments, less any subsequent withdrawals, including any applicable charges. Your first certificate anniversary is one calendar year from the date we issued your certificate.

For certificates issued on or after October 1, 2003, subject to state approval and implementation, the word "less" is replaced with the words "adjusted for." See "Death Benefit – Adjusted for Any Withdrawals or Less Any Withdrawals."

If the certificate is owned by a non-natural person, participant means annuitant for purposes of determining the death benefit amount.

Ratchet Death Benefit. The death benefit paid will be the amount calculated (and adjusted for any applicable charges) as of the business day we receive proof of death and election of the payment method in good order at our Service Center. If you choose the ratchet death benefit, the death benefit will be the greater of:

- 1) your certificate value; or
- 2) the annual ratchet death benefit amount.

We calculate the annual ratchet death benefit amount as follows:

When we issue your certificate, the annual ratchet death benefit is equal to your initial purchase payment. Thereafter, and prior to the date you, or the oldest joint participant or the annuitant if the certificate is purchased by a non-natural entity reaches age 80, we will calculate the ratchet death benefit:

- when you make a purchase payment;
- when you make a partial withdrawal; and
- on your certificate anniversary.

You will increase your ratchet death benefit if you make a purchase payment. If you make a subsequent purchase payment, the annual ratchet death benefit is equal to the most recently calculated annual ratchet death benefit plus the additional purchase payment.

You will decrease your ratchet death benefit if you make a partial withdrawal. If you make a withdrawal, the annual ratchet death benefit is equal to the most recently calculated annual ratchet death benefit, minus an adjustment for the withdrawal. We calculate the adjustment for the withdrawal as follows:

- a) divide the amount withdrawn by the most recent certificate value, and
- b) multiply it by the most recent annual ratchet death benefit.

On your certificate anniversary, the annual ratchet death benefit is equal to the greater of your certificate value or the most recently calculated annual ratchet death benefit.

If you do not make any additional purchase payments or any withdrawals, the annual ratchet death benefit will be the greater of all certificate anniversary certificate values on or prior to the date we calculate the death benefit.

When you, or the oldest joint participant, or the annuitant if the certificate is purchased by a non-natural entity, reaches age 80, the death benefit is the greater of:

- 1) your certificate value; or
- 2) the annual ratchet death benefit amount calculated on the certificate anniversary just prior to age 80, and adjusted for subsequent purchase payments and/or partial withdrawals in the same manner as described above.

We will deduct a quarterly charge for the ratchet death benefit from your certificate value. This charge is currently 0.15% on an annual basis of the daily value of your certificate value allocated to the funds and the fixed accounts, unless that charge exceeds the maximum charge, in which case the charge is the maximum charge. We will deduct this charge proportionately from the funds and the fixed accounts you have selected. We may increase this charge at any time while you own the certificate, but the charge will never exceed the maximum charge. The maximum charge is a percentage on an annual basis of the daily value of your certificate value allocated to the funds. The percentage is based on your age when the certificate was issued: 0.35% age 60 or younger; 0.50% age 61 through age 70; or 0.70% age 71 or older.

Death Benefit Payment Options During the Accumulation Phase. The availability of certain death benefit options may be limited for tax-qualified certificates in order to comply with the required minimum distribution rules.

A beneficiary must elect to receive the death benefit under one of the following options, in the event you die during the accumulation phase.

Option 1 – lump sum payment of the death benefit within 5 years of the date of death; or

Option 2 – payment of the death benefit under an annuity option over the lifetime of the beneficiary or over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of the beneficiary with distribution beginning within 1 year of the date of your death or the death of any joint participant.

Additional Option for a Spouse Who is the Sole Primary Beneficiary. A surviving spouse who is the sole primary beneficiary under a certificate that is either non-qualified or is held as a traditional IRA (including SEP IRAs) or Roth IRA may elect option 1, option 2, or may elect to continue the certificate. Generally, if the certificate is continued then: 1) the initial value will equal the death benefit amount payable; 2) all applicable certificate features and benefits will be in the surviving spouse's name; and 3) the surviving spouse will exercise all of the participant's rights under the certificate. Exceptions are as follows: a) if at the time the participant purchased the certificate the surviving spouse was over the maximum certificate the surviving spouse was over the maximum allowable age for electing a certain feature then the feature is not available for continuance. An election to continue the certificate can only be made once while the certificate is in effect.

Lump Sum Payment. If a lump sum payment is requested, we will pay the amount within 7 calendar days after we receive proof of death and election of the payment method in good order at our Service Center, unless we are required to suspend or delay payment.

Benefit Management Account. For lump sum payments of at least \$10,000, your beneficiary may elect to receive the death benefit by establishing an interest-bearing draft account called the Benefit Management Account (BMA). We periodically set the interest rate we credit to the BMA. That rate will not be less than the minimum guaranteed interest rate provided under the account. We will send a draftbook to the beneficiary who will have access to all the monies in the account, including interest, by writing a draft for all or part of the proceeds. Our drafts are similar to checks. The minimum draft amount is \$250. If the account balance falls below \$1,000, the BMA will be closed automatically and a check for the remaining balance, including interest, will be sent to the beneficiary. The beneficiary may close the BMA at any time. No deposits may be paid into the BMA. The BMA is part of our general account and is subject to the claims of our creditors. The BMA is not a bank account or bank deposit and is not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. We may make a profit on amounts left in the BMA. If the contract has been assigned, the BMA is not available for the assignee's portion of the death benefit. The BMA may not be available in all states. We reserve the right to make changes in the terms and conditions of the BMA. Election of the BMA shall be treated as an election of a lump sum for tax reporting purposes under Internal Revenue Code Section 72(s) or 401(a)(9). Any interest paid on amounts in the BMA is taxable as ordinary income in the year such interest is credited.

Beneficiary IRA Election. Beneficiary, Inherited, Legacy or "Stretch" IRAs are all terms used to describe an IRA that is used exclusively to distribute death proceeds of an IRA or other qualified investment to the beneficiary over that beneficiary's life expectancy in order to meet the required minimum distribution (RMD) rules. Upon the contract owner's death under an IRA or other qualified contract, a beneficiary(ies) may generally establish a Beneficiary IRA by either purchasing a new annuity contract or in some circumstances, by electing the Beneficiary IRA payout option under the current contract. Until withdrawn, amounts in a Beneficiary IRA or other qualified contract continue to be tax deferred. Amounts withdrawn each year, including amounts that are required to be withdrawn under the RMD rules, are subject to tax.

Eligibility Requirements/Restrictions:

If a beneficiary (ies) elects to establish a Beneficiary IRA after the death of the contract owner, the following rules apply:

1) Any withdrawals under a new Beneficiary IRA contract in excess of the RMD may be subject to a contingent deferred sales charge as indicated by the terms of the contract purchased.

- 2) For existing annuity contracts with single beneficiaries issued by us or one of our affiliates, the beneficiary will have the option of electing a Beneficiary IRA payout option under the current contract or establishing a Beneficiary IRA by purchasing a new annuity contract issued by us or one of our affiliates. Should the beneficiary decide to elect the Beneficiary IRA payout option under the current contract, any withdrawals in excess of the RMD will not be subject to a contingent deferred sales charge.
- 3) For existing annuity contracts with multiple beneficiaries issued by us or one of our affiliates, a beneficiary wishing to establish a Beneficiary IRA funded by an annuity contract issued by us or one of our affiliates must purchase a new annuity contract.
- 4) If the existing contract was issued by a company other than us or one of our affiliates, those beneficiaries wishing to establish a Beneficiary IRA funded by an annuity contract issued by us or one of our affiliates must purchase a new annuity contract.
- 5) The source of funds to be invested must be from a traditional IRA, SEP IRA, SIMPLE IRA, Beneficiary IRA, TSA, 401(a) or a Qualified Employee Plan (includes Pension Plan, Money Purchase Pension Plan, Profit Sharing Plan, Keogh (HR10), Target Benefit Plan).
- 6) Joint ownership of a Beneficiary IRA is not allowed.
- 7) The annuity contract will be titled in the beneficiary's name as beneficiary for the deceased contract owner.
- 8) For non-spousal Beneficiary IRAs, RMDs must begin by December 31st of the year following the year of the date of the contract owner's death. For spousal Beneficiary IRAs, RMDs may be deferred until April 1st of the year following the year the original owner would have attained age 70 ½. The RMD amount will generally be calculated based on the beneficiary's life expectancy and will be withdrawn on a proportional basis from all investment accounts in which funds are invested. If the original contract owner died after attaining age 70 ½ and was younger than the beneficiary, the RMD amount may be calculated based on the original contract owner's life expectancy in the year of his or her death. If there is a Beneficiary IRA previously established with another carrier and an RMD is required in the current calendar year, we will process the RMD. If however, an RMD is not required in the current calendar year, an RMD will not be processed until the year it is required.
- 9) The contract value at time of issue will be equal to either the death benefit that would have been payable to the beneficiary if a lump sum distribution had been elected, or the contract value of an existing Beneficiary IRA that is being transferred to a new MassMutual annuity.
- 10) Additional contributions cannot be applied to the Beneficiary IRA.
- 11) Upon the death of the annuitant of the Beneficiary IRA, a death benefit, under the terms of the contract, will be paid to the succeeding beneficiary in a lump sum or over the annuitant's remaining life expectancy as determined by the applicable IRS table. The annuitant may not be changed on a Beneficiary IRA.
- 12) Additional rules may apply. Please consult your registered representative for further information.
- 13) We have the right to modify, suspend or terminate the Beneficiary IRA program at any time without prior notification.

Beneficiaries should consult a qualified tax adviser for advice prior to establishing a Beneficiary IRA.

Death of Participant During the Income Phase. If you, or any joint participant, die during the income phase, the primary beneficiary will become the participant. If any joint participant dies, we will treat the surviving joint participant as the primary beneficiary and treat any other beneficiary designation, on record at the time of death, as a contingent beneficiary, unless both joint participants have submitted a written request to our Service Center, in good order, requesting otherwise.

Death of Annuitant. If the annuitant, who is not the participant or joint participant, dies during the accumulation phase, you can name a new annuitant subject to our approval. If you do not name an annuitant within 30 days of the death of the annuitant, you will become the annuitant. However, if the participant is a non-natural person we will treat the death of the annuitant as the death of the participant, and you may not name a new annuitant.

Upon the death of the annuitant on or after the annuity date, the death benefit, if any, is as specified in the annuity option elected. We will pay death benefits at least as rapidly as under the method of distribution in effect at the annuitant's death.

Taxes

This prospectus describes your certificate, which is a contract between you, the participant, and MassMutual. In this tax discussion, we use the word "contract" to mean "certificate" and "owner" to mean "participant."

The information in this prospectus is general and is not an exhaustive discussion of all tax questions that might arise under the contract. The information is not written or intended as tax or legal advice, and may not be relied upon for purposes of avoiding any federal tax penalties. You should consult a tax adviser about your own circumstances. In addition, we do not profess to know the likelihood that current federal income tax laws and Treasury Regulations or the current interpretations of the Internal Revenue Code, Regulations, and other guidance will continue. We cannot make any guarantee regarding the future tax treatment of any contract. We reserve the right to make changes in the contract to assure that it continues to qualify as an annuity for tax purposes.

No attempt is made in this prospectus to consider any applicable state or other tax laws.

Taxation of the Company. MassMutual is taxed as a life insurance company under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code). For federal income tax purposes, the separate account is not a separate entity from MassMutual, and its operations form a part of MassMutual.

Annuities in General. Annuity contracts are a means of both setting aside money for future needs - usually retirement - and for providing a mechanism to administer the payout of those funds. Congress recognized how important providing for retirement was and created special rules in the Code for annuities. Simply stated, these rules provide that you will generally not be taxed on the earnings on the money held in your annuity contract until you take the money out. This is referred to as tax deferral.

Diversification. Code Section 817(h) imposes certain diversification standards on the underlying assets of variable annuity contracts. The Code provides that a variable annuity contract will not be treated as an annuity contract for any period (and any subsequent period) for which the investments are not, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the United States Treasury Department, adequately diversified. Disqualification of the contract as an annuity contract would result in a loss of tax deferral, meaning the imposition of federal income tax to the owner with respect to earnings under the contract prior to the receipt of payments under the contract. We intend that all investment portfolios underlying the contracts will be managed in such a manner as to comply with these diversification requirements.

Investor Control of Assets. For variable annuity contracts, tax deferral also depends on the insurance company, and not you, having control of the assets held in the separate accounts. You can transfer among the sub-accounts of the separate account to another but cannot direct the investments each underlying fund makes. If you have too much investor control of the assets supporting the separate account funds, then you will be taxed on the gain in the contract as it is earned rather than when it is withdrawn. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has provided some guidance on investor control by issuing Revenue Rulings 2003-91 and 2003-92, but some issues remain unclear. One unanswered question is whether an owner will be deemed to own the assets in the contract if the variable contract offers too large a choice of funds in which to invest, and if so, what that number might be. We do not know if the IRS will issue any further guidance on this question. We do not know if any guidance would have a retroactive effect. Consequently, we reserve the right to modify the contract, as necessary, so that you will not be treated as having investor control of the assets held under the separate account.

Non-Qualified Contracts. Your contract is referred to as a non-qualified contract if you purchase the contract as an individual and not under a qualified plan such as an Individual Retirement Annuity (IRA), Roth IRA, tax-sheltered annuity plan (TSA or TSA plan), corporate pension and profit-sharing plan (including 401(k) plans and H.R. 10 plans), or a governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan.

Qualified Contracts. Your contract is referred to as a qualified contract if it is purchased under a qualified retirement plan (qualified plan) such as an Individual Retirement Annuity (IRA), Roth IRA, tax-sheltered annuity plan (TSA or TSA plan), corporate pension and profit-sharing plan (including 401(k) plans and H.R. 10 plans), or a governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan. Qualified plans are subject to various limitations on eligibility, contributions, transferability and distributions based on the type of plan. The tax rules regarding qualified plans are very complex and will have differing applications depending on individual facts and circumstances. You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

Taxation of participants in each qualified plan varies with the type of plan and terms and conditions of each specific plan. Owners, annuitants and beneficiaries are cautioned that benefits under a qualified plan may be subject to the terms and conditions of the plan regardless of the terms and conditions of the contracts issued pursuant to the plan. Some retirement plans are subject to distribution and other requirements that are not incorporated into our administrative procedures. Owners, participants and beneficiaries are responsible for determining that contributions, distributions and other transactions with respect to the contracts comply with applicable law.

Contracts issued under a qualified plan include special provisions restricting contract provisions that may otherwise be available as described in this prospectus. Generally, contracts issued under a qualified plan are not transferable. Various penalty and excise taxes may apply to contributions or distributions made in violation of applicable limitations. Furthermore, certain withdrawal penalties and restrictions may apply to distributions from qualified contracts. See "Taxes – Taxation of Qualified Contracts."

Eligible rollover distributions from an IRA, TSA, qualified plan or governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan may generally be rolled over into another IRA, TSA, qualified plan or governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan, if permitted by the plan. These amounts may be transferred directly from one qualified plan or account to another, or as an indirect rollover, in which the plan participant receives a distribution from the qualified plan or account, and reinvests it in the receiving qualified plan or account within 60 days of receiving the distribution.

Code Section 408(d)(3)(B) provides that an individual is only permitted to make one indirect rollover from an IRA to another IRA in any 1-year period. The IRS has applied this limitation on an IRA-by-IRA basis, allowing a taxpayer to make an indirect rollover from an IRA, so long as he or she had not made an indirect rollover from that same IRA within the preceding 1-year period, even if he or she had made indirect rollovers from a different IRA. Recently the IRS has stated in Announcement 2014-15 that it intends to follow a Tax Court opinion that held that the limitation applies on an aggregate basis, meaning that an individual cannot make an indirect rollover from one IRA to another if he or she has made an indirect rollover involving any IRA within 1 year. In the Announcement the IRS also states that they will issue proposed regulations to effect this change but they will not apply this interpretation to any rollover that involves an IRA distribution that occurs before January 1, 2015. It is important to note that the one rollover per year limitation does not apply to amounts transferred directly between IRAs in a trustee-to-trustee transfer.

On July 6, 1983, the Supreme Court decided in *Arizona Governing Committee v. Norris* that optional annuity benefits provided under an employer's deferred compensation plan could not, under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, vary between men and women. The contracts we sell in connection with qualified plans use annuity tables which do not differentiate on the basis of sex. Such annuity tables are also available for use in connection with certain non-qualified deferred compensation plans.

Following are general descriptions of the types of qualified plans with which the contracts may be used. Such descriptions are not exhaustive and are for general informational purposes only. The tax rules regarding qualified plans are very complex and will have differing applications depending on individual facts and circumstances. You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of your investment.

Individual Retirement Annuities. Code Section 408(b) permits eligible individuals to contribute to an individual retirement program known as an Individual Retirement Annuity (IRA). IRAs are subject to limitations on eligibility, contributions, transferability and distributions. See "Taxes – Taxation of Qualified Contracts." For 2014, IRA contributions are limited to the lesser of \$5,500 or 100% of compensation, and an additional catch-up contribution of \$1,000 is available for individuals age 50 and over. Contributions are deductible, unless you are an active participant in a qualified plan and your modified adjusted gross income exceeds certain limits. Contracts issued for use with IRAs are subject to special requirements by the Code, including the requirement that certain

informational disclosure be given to persons desiring to establish an IRA. You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

SEP IRAs. Code Section 408(k) permits certain employers to establish IRAs for employees that qualify as Simplified Employee Pension (SEP) IRAs. Contributions to the plan for the benefit of employees will not be includible in the gross income of the employees until distributed from the plan. SEP IRAs are treated as defined contribution plans for purposes of the limits on employer contributions. Employer contributions cannot exceed the lesser of i) \$52,000 or ii) 25% of compensation (a maximum of \$260,000 of compensation may be considered) for 2014. The employee may treat the SEP account as a traditional IRA and make deductible and non-deductible contributions if the general IRA requirements are met. SEP IRAs are subject to additional restrictions, including on items such as: the form, manner and timing of distributions; transferability of benefits; vesting and nonforfeitability of interests; nondiscrimination in eligibility and participation; and the tax treatment of distributions, withdrawals and surrenders. See "Taxes – Taxation of Qualified Contracts." You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

Roth IRAs. Code Section 408A permits eligible individuals to contribute to a non-deductible IRA, known as a Roth IRA. Roth IRAs are subject to limitations on eligibility, contributions, transferability and distributions. For 2014, Roth IRA contributions are limited to the lesser of \$5,500 or 100% of compensation, and an additional catch-up contribution of \$1,000 is available for individuals age 50 or over. The maximums are decreased by any contributions made to a traditional IRA for the same tax year. Lower maximum Roth IRA contribution limits apply to individuals whose modified adjusted gross income exceeds certain limits. Amounts may be rolled over from one Roth IRA to a nother Roth IRA. Furthermore, an individual may make a rollover contribution from a non-Roth IRA to a Roth IRA, known as a conversion. The individual must pay tax on any portion of the IRA being rolled over that represents income or previously deductible IRA contributions. The determination of taxable income is based on the fair market value of the IRA at the time of the conversion. See "Taxes – Required Distributions" for information on the determination of the fair market value of an annuity contract that provides additional benefits (such as certain living or death benefits). You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

Corporate Pension and Profit-Sharing Plans. Code Sections 401(a) and 401(k) permit employers to establish various types of retirement plans for employees. Contributions made to the plan for the benefit of the employees and the earnings on those contributions are generally not included in gross income of the employees until distributed from the plan. The tax consequences to participants may vary depending upon the particular plan design. In general, annual contributions made by an employer and employee to a defined contribution plan may not exceed the lesser of i) \$52,000 or ii) 100% of compensation or earned income (a maximum of \$260,000 of compensation may be considered). An employee's elective salary reduction contributions under a cash or deferred arrangement (i.e. a 401(k) plan) are limited to \$17,500, with an additional catch-up contributions necessary to fund a promised level of benefit. For 2014, the annual benefit under a defined benefit plan is limited to i) 100% of compensation for a participant's highest three years or ii) \$210,000. Plans are subject to additional restrictions, including on such items as: the form, manner and timing of distributions; transferability of benefits; vesting and nonforfeitability of interests; nondiscrimination in eligibility and participation; and the tax treatment of distributions, withdrawals and surrenders. See "Taxes – Taxation of Qualified Contracts." You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

H.R. 10 Plans. Code Section 401(a) permits self-employed individuals to establish qualified plans for themselves and their employees, commonly referred to as "H.R.10" or "Keogh" plans. Contributions made to the plan for the benefit of the employees and the earnings on those contributions are generally not included in gross income of the employees until distributed from the plan. The tax consequences to participants may vary depending upon the particular plan design. In general, H.R. 10 Plans are subject to the same restrictions as Corporate Pension and Profit-Sharing Plans (see "Taxes – Qualified Contracts – Corporate Pension and Profit-Sharing Plans"), including limitations on eligibility, participation, contributions, time and manner of distributions, transferability and taxation of distributions. See "Taxes – Taxation of Qualified Contracts." You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

Tax-Sheltered Annuities. Code Section 403(b) permits certain eligible employers to purchase annuity contracts, known as Tax-Sheltered Annuities (TSAs), under a section 403(b) program. Eligible employers are organizations that are exempt from tax under Code Section 501(c)(3) and public educational organizations. Contributions made to a TSA and the earnings on those contributions are generally not included in gross income of the employee until

distributed from the plan. TSAs are subject to limitations on contributions, which may be made as "elective deferrals" (contributions made pursuant to a salary reduction agreement) or as non-elective or matching contributions by an employer. In general, annual contributions made by an employer and employee to a TSA may not exceed the lesser of i) \$52,000 or ii) 100% of includible compensation (a maximum of \$260,000 of includible compensation may be considered). An employee's elective salary reduction contributions are limited to \$17,500. In addition, certain catch-up contributions may be made by eligible participants age 50 or over and those with 15 or more years of service with the same employer. TSAs are subject to additional restrictions, including on such items as: the form, manner and timing of distributions; transferability of benefits; vesting and nonforfeitability of interests; nondiscrimination in eligibility and participation; and the tax treatment of distributions, withdrawals and surrenders. See "Taxes – Tax-Sheltered Annuities Taxation and Withdrawal Restrictions." You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

Governmental 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plans. Employees of (and independent contractors who perform services for) certain state and local governmental units, or certain tax-exempt employers, may participate in a Code Section 457(b) plan of the employer, allowing them to defer part of their salary or other compensation. Contributions made to a Code Section 457(b) plan and the earnings on those contributions are generally not included in gross income of the employee until distributed from the plan. Code Section 457(b) deferrals are limited to the lesser of i) \$17,500 or ii) 100% of includible compensation. In addition, certain catch-up contributions may be made by eligible participants age 50 or over, and those within three years of normal retirement age under the plan. The contract purchased is issued to the employer or trustee, as applicable. All contract value in a governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan must be held for the exclusive benefit of the employee, and such plans are subject to limitations on distributions. See "Taxes – Withdrawal Restrictions – Governmental 457(b) Deferred Compensation Contract." You should consult a tax adviser as to the tax treatment and suitability of such an investment.

Taxation of Non-Qualified Contracts. You, as the owner of a non-qualified annuity, will generally not be taxed on any increases in the value of your contract until a distribution occurs. There are different rules as to how you are taxed depending on whether the distribution is a withdrawal or an annuity payment.

Withdrawals. The Code generally treats any withdrawal 1) allocable to investment in the contract made after August 13, 1982 in an annuity contract entered into prior to August 14, 1982 and 2) from an annuity contract entered into after August 13, 1982, as first coming from earnings and then from your investment in the contract. The withdrawn earnings are subject to tax as ordinary income.

Annuity Payments. Annuity payments occur as the result of the contract reaching its annuity start date. A portion of each annuity payment is treated as a partial return of your investment in the contract and is not taxed. The remaining portion of the annuity payment is treated as ordinary income. The annuity payment is divided between these taxable and non-taxable portions based on the calculation of an exclusion amount. The exclusion amount for annuity payments based on a fixed annuity option is determined by multiplying the payment by the ratio that the cost basis of the contract (adjusted for any period certain or refund feature) bears to the expected return under the contract. The exclusion amount for annuity payments based on a variable annuity option is determined by dividing the cost basis of the contract (adjusted for any period certain or refund guarantee) by the number of years over which the annuity is expected to be paid. Annuity payments received after you have recovered all of your investment in the contract are fully taxable.

The Code also provides that any amount received (both annuity payments and withdrawals) under an annuity contract which is included in income may be subject to a tax penalty. The amount of the penalty is an additional tax equal to 10% of the amount that is includible in income. Some withdrawals will be exempt from the penalty. They include any amounts:

- 1) paid on or after you reach age $59\frac{1}{2}$;
- 2) paid to your beneficiary after you die;
- 3) paid if you become totally disabled (as that term is defined in the Code);
- 4) paid in a series of substantially equal periodic payments made annually (or more frequently) for your life or life expectancy or for the joint lives or joint life expectancies of you and your designated beneficiary;
- 5) paid under an immediate annuity; or

6) which come from investment in the contract made before 8/14/1982.

With respect to (4) above, if the series of substantially equal periodic payments is modified before the later of your attaining age $59 \frac{1}{2}$ or 5 years from the date of the first periodic payment, then the tax for the year of the modification is increased by an amount equal to the tax which would have been imposed (the 10% tax penalty), but for the exception, plus interest for the tax years in which the exception was used. The rules governing substantially equal periodic payments are complex. You should consult a tax adviser for more specific information.

Multiple Contracts. The Code provides that multiple non-qualified annuity contracts which are issued within a calendar year to the same owner by one company or its affiliates are treated as one annuity contract for purposes of determining the tax consequences of any distribution. Such treatment may result in adverse tax consequences including more rapid taxation of the distributed amounts from such combination of contracts. This rule does not apply to immediate annuities.

Tax Treatment of Assignments. An assignment or pledge of a contract may be a taxable event. You should consult a tax adviser if you wish to assign or pledge your contract. Annuity contracts issued after April 22, 1987 that are transferred for less than full and adequate consideration (including gifts) are subject to tax to the extent of gain in the contract. This does not apply to transfers between spouses or certain transfers incident to a divorce under Code Section 1041.

Distributions After Death of Owner. In order to be treated as an annuity contract for federal income tax purposes, Code Section 72(s) requires any non-qualified contract to contain certain provisions specifying how your interest in the contract will be distributed in the event of the death of an owner of the contract. Specifically, Code Section 72(s) requires that a) if any owner dies on or after the annuity start date, but prior to the time the entire interest in the contract has been distributed, the entire interest in the contract will be distributed at least as rapidly as under the method of distribution being used as of the date of such owner's death; and b) if any owner dies prior to the annuity start date, the entire interest in the contract will be distributed within five years after the date of such owner's death. These requirements will be considered satisfied as to any portion of an owner's interest which is payable to or for the benefit of a designated beneficiary and which is distributed over the life of such designated beneficiary or over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of that beneficiary, provided that such distributions begin within one year of the owner's death. The designated beneficiary refers to a natural person designated by the owner as a beneficiary and to whom ownership of the contract passes by reason of death. However, if the designated beneficiary is the surviving spouse of the deceased owner, the contract may be continued with the surviving spouse as the new owner. The non-qualified contracts contain provisions that are intended to comply with these Code requirements, although no regulations interpreting these requirements have yet been issued. We intend to review such provisions and modify them if necessary to assure that they comply with the applicable requirements when such requirements are clarified by regulation or otherwise.

Taxation of Qualified Contracts. If you have no cost basis for your interest in a qualified contract, the full amount of any distribution is taxable to you as ordinary income. If you do have a cost basis for all or some of your interest, a portion of the distribution is taxable, generally based on the ratio of your cost basis to your total contract value. Special tax rules may be available for certain distributions from a qualified plan.

Code Section 72(t) imposes a 10% penalty tax on the taxable portion of any distribution from qualified plans, including contracts issued and qualified under Code Sections 401 (pension and profit-sharing plans), 403 (TSAs), 408 (IRAs), and 408A (Roth IRAs). Exceptions from the penalty tax are as follows:

- 1) distributions made on or after you reach age $59\frac{1}{2}$;
- 2) distributions made after your death;
- 3) distributions made that are attributable to the employee being disabled as defined in the Code;
- after severance from employment, distributions that are part of a series of substantially equal periodic payments made not less frequently than annually for your life (or life expectancy) or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of you and your designated beneficiary (in applying this exception to distributions from IRAs, a severance of employment is not required);

- 5) distributions made after severance from employment if you have reached age 55 (not applicable to distributions from IRAs);
- 6) distributions made to you up to the amount allowable as a deduction to you under Code Section 213 for amounts you paid during the taxable year for medical care;
- 7) distributions made on account of an IRS levy made on a qualified retirement plan or IRA;
- 8) distributions made to an alternate payee pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order (not applicable to distributions from IRAs);
- 9) distributions from an IRA for the purchase of medical insurance (as described in Code Section 213(d)(1)(D)) for you and your spouse and dependents if you received unemployment compensation for at least 12 weeks and have not been re-employed for at least 60 days;
- 10) certain qualified reservist distributions;
- distributions from an IRA to the extent they do not exceed your qualified higher education expenses (as defined in Code Section 72(t)(7)) for the taxable year; and
- 12) distributions from an IRA which are qualified first-time homebuyer distributions (as defined in Code Section 72(t)(8)).

With respect to (4) above, if the series of substantially equal periodic payments is modified before the later of your attaining age 59 1/2 or 5 years from the date of the first periodic payment, then the tax for the year of the modification is increased by an amount equal to the tax which would have been imposed (the 10% penalty tax) but for the exception, plus interest for the tax years in which the exception was used. The IRS has indicated that a modification will occur if, after the first valuation date, there is i) any addition to the account balance other than gains or losses, ii) any non-taxable transfer of a portion of the account balance to another retirement plan, or iii) a rollover by the individual of the amount received resulting in such amount not being taxable. The rules governing substantially equal periodic payments are complex. You should consult a tax adviser or IRS Revenue Ruling 2002-62 for more specific information.

Tax-Sheltered Annuities Taxation and Withdrawal Restrictions. Under IRS regulations, effective January 1, 2009, all TSA plans must have a written plan document which specifies the requirements that each contract must meet in order to be qualified under the plan. In addition, the document must provide a list of the providers and contracts that are permitted to be purchased by TSA plan participants under the plan. TSA plan participants should be aware that if a TSA plan removes the provider or specific contract type that the TSA plan participant owns from its approved list, the TSA plan participant may be restricted from making further salary reduction contributions into that contract. TSA plans also have the right to restrict the ability to take loans and hardship withdrawals from a TSA contract. Because a plan participant may own more than one TSA contract, before we process a transaction we may require the TSA plan to approve the transaction to ensure that rules regarding loans, hardships and distribution restrictions are met. TSA plan participants should contact their individual TSA plan to determine the specific rules that apply to them.

The IRS regulations also make significant changes to Revenue Ruling 90-24 exchanges or transfers. Under the regulations an exchange may only be done when the TSA plan allows TSA exchanges under its plan and the provider of the new TSA contract agrees to share information with the TSA plan to ensure that the requirements of the TSA plan are met. Given this restriction, before a TSA exchange is processed, the TSA plan is required to approve the transaction or provide a list of vendors for which it has an information sharing agreement (ISA). Additionally, because most of the regulations were not effective until 2009, there was great uncertainty about their application to contract exchanges that took place between September 24, 2007 and January 1, 2009. Because of this uncertainty, it is possible that an exchange that took place prior to January 1, 2009 caused a TSA plan participant to incur taxation on the value of the contract. However, it is also possible that such an exchange did not have adverse tax consequences. If a TSA plan participant exchanged a contract to a TSA contract with a provider that does not have an ISA with the TSA plan, the participant had until July 1, 2009 to avoid adverse tax consequences by exchanging the contract for a TSA contract with which the TSA plan does have an ISA.

The Code limits the withdrawal of purchase payments made by TSA plan participants through salary reductions from certain TSAs. Withdrawals of salary reduction amounts and their earnings can be made when a TSA plan participant:

1) reaches age $59\frac{1}{2}$;

- 2) has a severance from employment;
- 3) dies;
- 4) becomes disabled, as that term is defined in the Code; or
- 5) the TSA plan terminates (starting 1/1/2009).

In the case of hardship, the TSA plan participant can only withdraw the purchase payments and not any earnings. The TSA plan participant is required to suspend salary reduction contributions to any other TSA contract for a six-month period following the date of hardship distribution.

TSA contract value as of December 31, 1988 and contract amounts attributable to service with a former employer are not subject to these restrictions. Additionally, return of excess contributions or amounts paid to a spouse as a result of a qualified domestic relations order are not subject to these restrictions.

TSA contracts issued January 1, 2009 and after are subject to distribution restrictions on employer contributions. These restrictions are determined by the TSA plan and can be based on criteria such as completing years of service or attaining a stated age.

Withdrawal Restrictions – Governmental 457(b) Deferred Compensation Contract. Amounts may not be paid to a participant of a governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plan prior to the participant's:

- attainment of age 70¹/₂;
- severance from employment;
- · incurring an unforeseeable emergency; or
- compliance with a qualified domestic relations order (QDRO).

In certain circumstances, amounts may also be distributed upon termination of the deferred compensation plan or if the contract contains \$5,000 or less, as provided by the plan.

Governmental 457(b) deferred compensation plans are subject to the required minimum distribution rules of Code Section 401(a)(9). The sections of this prospectus related to qualified contracts contain more detailed information regarding these rules.

Required Minimum Distribution for Qualified Contracts. For qualified contracts other than Roth IRAs, distributions generally must begin no later than April 1st of the calendar year following the later of a) the calendar year in which you attain age 70 $\frac{1}{2}$ or b) the calendar year in which you retire. The date set forth in (b) does not apply to an IRA. Required distributions generally must be over a period not exceeding your life or life expectancy or the joint lives or joint life expectancies of you and your designated beneficiary. Upon your death, additional distribution requirements are imposed. If your contract has not entered the income phase and your death occurs after your required beginning date, distributions must be made at least as rapidly as under the method in effect at the time of your death or over the life or life expectancy of the designated beneficiary. If your contract has not entered the income phase and your death occurs before your required beginning date, the remaining interest must be distributed within 5 years or over the life or life expectancy of the designated beneficiary. If your death occurs after your contract has entered the income phase, distributions must be made at least as rapidly as under the method in effect at the time of your death. If your contract is held as a Roth IRA, there are no required minimum distributions during your life. However, upon your death your beneficiary is subject to required minimum distribution requirements. Any remaining interest must be distributed within 5 years or over your beneficiary's life expectancy. If required minimum distributions are not made, a 50% penalty tax is imposed on the amount that should have been distributed.

The Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) include a provision that could increase the dollar amount of required minimum distributions for individuals who fund their IRA or qualified retirement plan with an annuity contract. During the accumulation phase of the annuity contract, Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(a)(9)-6, Q&A-12 requires that individuals add the actuarial present value of any additional benefits provided under the annuity (such as certain living or death benefits) to the dollar amount credited to the owner or beneficiary under

the contract in order to determine the fair market value of the contract. A larger fair market value will result in the calculation of a higher required minimum distribution amount. You should consult a tax adviser to determine how this may impact your specific circumstances.

Taxation of Death Benefit Proceeds. Amounts may be distributed from a contract because of your death or the death of the annuitant. Generally, such amounts are includible in the income of the recipient as follows: i) if distributed in a lump sum, they are taxed in the same manner as a full withdrawal of the contract; or ii) if distributed under a payout option, they are taxed in the same way as annuity payments.

Section 1035 Tax Free Exchanges. Code Section 1035 provides that a life insurance, endowment, or annuity contract may be exchanged for an annuity contract on a tax free basis. When this type of exchange occurs, the gain in the original contract is preserved in the new contract by transferring the cost basis under the original contract to the new contract. The IRS has provided guidance on the partial exchange of an annuity contract for another annuity contract. According to the guidance, partial exchanges occurring on or after October 24, 2011 will be tax free if no distribution takes place from either contract within 180 days after the exchange. If a distribution occurs within 180 days after the exchange, the IRS will apply general tax principles to determine the tax treatment of the transfer. The limitation on distributions within 180 days does not apply to annuity payments that are based on life expectancy or on a period certain of 10 or more years. You should consult a tax adviser before entering into any 1035 exchange.

Partial exchanges which occurred prior to October 24, 2011 were subject to more restrictive guidance. You should consult a tax adviser if you have questions regarding the taxation of a prior exchange.

Beginning January 1, 2010, the Pension Protection Act of 2006 permits the exchange of an annuity contract for a qualified long-term care contract to qualify as a tax free 1035 exchange. However, if an annuity contract has entered the income phase, there is uncertainty and a lack of guidance regarding whether the exchange can qualify. Therefore, if an annuity contract has entered the income phase and the contract or the resulting annuity payments are exchanged for a qualified long-term care contract, we will not treat that as a tax free 1035 exchange.

Income Tax Reporting and Withholding. Federal law requires that we file an information return on Form 1099-R with the IRS (with a copy to you) reporting any taxable amounts paid to you under the annuity contract. By January 31st of the calendar year following the year of any payment(s), we will issue the Form 1099-R to the owner of the annuity contract. Following the death of the owner the Form 1099-R will be sent to each beneficiary who receives a payment under the contract.

The portion of any distribution that is includible in the gross income of the owner is subject to federal income tax withholding. The amount of the withholding depends on the type of distribution. Withholding for periodic payments is at the same rate as wages and at the rate of 10% from non-periodic payments. However, the owner, in most cases, may elect not to have taxes withheld or to have withholding done at a different rate (but not lower). Distributions from certain retirement plans, excluding IRAs, that are not directly rolled over to another eligible retirement plan or IRA, are subject to a mandatory 20% withholding. The 20% withholding requirement generally does not apply to a) a series of substantially equal payments made at least annually for i) the life or life expectancy of the owner, or joint and last survivor expectancy of the owner and a designated beneficiary, or ii) for a specified period of 10 years or more; b) distributions which are required minimum distributions; or c) hardship distributions from a 401(k) plan or a tax-sheltered annuity. You should consult a tax adviser regarding withholding requirements.

Generation Skipping Transfer Tax Withholding. Under certain circumstances, the Code may impose a generation skipping transfer tax when all or part of an annuity contract is transferred to, or a death benefit is paid to, an individual two or more generations younger than the owner. Regulations issued under the Code may require us to deduct the tax from your contract, or from any applicable payment, and pay it directly to the IRS.

Medicare Hospital Insurance Tax. Effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2012, a Medicare Hospital Insurance Tax (known as the Unearned Income Medicare Contribution) applies to all or part of a taxpayer's net investment income, at a rate of 3.8%, when certain income thresholds are met. Net investment income is defined to include, among other things, non-qualified annuities and net gain attributable to the disposition of property. Under regulations issued in 2013, the taxable portion of any distribution from a non-qualified annuity contract – including surrenders, withdrawals, and annuity payments – is included in net

investment income. Net investment income also includes the gain from the sale of a non-qualified annuity contract. Under current guidance, we are required to report to the IRS whether a distribution is potentially subject to the tax. You should consult a tax adviser as to the potential impact of the Medicare Hospital Insurance Tax on your contract.

Non-Resident Aliens and Foreign Entities. Generally, a distribution from a contract to a non-resident alien or foreign entity is subject to federal tax withholding at a rate of 30% of the amount of income that is distributed. A non-resident alien is a person who is neither a citizen, nor a resident, of the United States of America (U.S.). We are required to withhold the tax and send it to the IRS. Some distributions to non-resident aliens or foreign entities may be subject to a lower (or no) tax if a treaty applies. In order to obtain the benefits of such a treaty, the non-resident alien must claim the treaty benefit on Form W-8BEN (or the equivalent form), providing us with 1) proof of residency (in accordance with IRS requirements), and 2) a U.S. individual taxpayer identification number. If the above conditions are not met, we will withhold 30% of the income from the distribution. Additionally, U.S. withholding may occur with respect to certain entity owners (including foreign financial institutions and non-financial foreign entities (such as corporations, partnerships, and trusts)) at a 30% rate without regard to lower treaty rates under the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act effective 7/01/2014.

Same-Sex Marriage. Certain states treat individuals in a same-sex marriage, civil union, or domestic partnership as spouses for purposes of state law. Where same-sex marriages are recognized by state law, they are also recognized under federal law. The Department of Treasury and Internal Revenue Service have recently determined that spousal tax benefits will be determined based on the law of the state in which the marriage was celebrated (irrespective of the state of residence). However, some uncertainty remains regarding the treatment of same-sex spouses. Same-sex marriage is not recognized under the law of every state, and state tax treatment may differ from federal. Parties to a civil union or domestic partnership are not treated as spouses under federal law. Consequently, certain transactions, such as a change of ownership or continuation of the contract after death, may be taxable to those individuals. You should consult a tax adviser for more information on this subject.

Non-Natural Owner. When a non-qualified contract is owned by a non-natural person (e.g., a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust or certain other entities) the contract will generally not be treated as an annuity for tax purposes. This means that gain in the contract will be taxed each year while the contract is in the accumulation phase. This treatment is not generally applied to a contract held by a trust or other entity as an agent for a natural person. If any beneficiary (including a contingent beneficiary) of a trust is a non-natural person, the contract will not be treated as owned by an agent for a natural person, and gain in the contract will be taxed annually, whether or not the trust is a grantor trust for income tax purposes. This treatment also does not apply to a contract that qualifies as an immediate annuity. Before purchasing a contract to be owned by a non-natural person or changing ownership on an existing contract that will result in it being owned by a non-natural person, you should consult a tax adviser to determine the tax impact.

State versus Federal Tax. On June 7, 2001, President Bush signed into law the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (EGTRRA). Some of EGTRRA's provisions include increased contribution limits for qualified retirement plans, catch-up contribution limits for eligible participants and enhanced rollover opportunities. It is important to note that some states do not automatically conform their state income tax codes to reflect changes to the federal income tax code. Consequently, these states will not follow the provisions enacted by EGTRRA until they conform their income tax codes to the federal code. This nonconformity may result in state income tax consequences to participants of qualified retirement arrangements. Accordingly, participants of qualified retirement arrangements should consult a tax adviser to determine whether any adverse state income tax consequences would result from their compliance with EGTRRA's provisions.

Other Information

Distribution

The certificates were sold by both registered representatives of MML Investors Services, LLC (MMLIS), a subsidiary of MassMutual, and by registered representatives of other broker-dealers who have entered into distribution agreements with MML Distributors, LLC (MML Distributors), a subsidiary of MassMutual. Pursuant to separate underwriting agreements with MassMutual and the separate account, MMLIS serves as principal underwriter of the certificates sold by its registered representatives and prior to April 1, 2014, MML Distributors served as principal underwriter of the certificates sold by registered representatives of other broker-dealers who have entered into distribution agreements (Distribution Agreements) with MML Distributors. Effective April 1, 2014, MML Strategic Distributors, LLC (MSD) replaced MML Distributors in all such Distribution Agreements for these certificates.

Both MMLIS and MSD are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as broker-dealers under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are members of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA). Commissions for sales of the certificate by MMLIS registered representatives are paid on behalf of MMLIS to its registered representatives. Commissions for sales of the certificate by registered representatives of other broker-dealers are paid on behalf of MSD to those broker-dealers. MMLIS and MSD also receive compensation for their actions as principal underwriters of the certificates. We also pay expense allowances in connection with the sales of the certificates. The total compensation paid for the sale of the certificate and/or up to 2.4% of certificate value annually.

Additional Compensation Paid to MMLIS. Most MMLIS registered representatives are also MassMutual insurance agents, and as such, are eligible for certain cash and non-cash benefits from MassMutual. Cash compensation includes bonuses and allowances based on factors such as sales, productivity and persistency. Non-cash compensation includes various recognition items such as prizes and awards as well as attendance at, and payment of the costs associated with attendance at, conferences, seminars and recognition trips, and also includes contributions to certain individual plans such as pension and medical plans. Sales of this certificate may help these registered representatives and their supervisors qualify for such benefits. MMLIS registered representatives who are also general agents or sales managers of MassMutual also may receive overrides, allowances and other compensation that is based on sales of the certificate by their registered representatives.

Additional Compensation Paid to Certain Broker-Dealers. We and MSD make additional commission payments to certain broker-dealers in the form of asset-based payments and sales-based payments. We also make cash payments and non-cash payments to certain broker-dealers. The asset-based and sales-based payments are made to participate in those broker-dealers' preferred provider programs or marketing support programs, or to otherwise promote this certificate. Asset-based payments are based on the value of the assets in the MassMutual certificates sold by that broker-dealer. Sales-based payments are paid on each sale of the certificate and each subsequent purchase payment applied to the certificate. Cash payments include various promotional items. For a list of the broker-dealers to whom we currently pay additional compensation for selling this certificate, visit www.massmutual.com/legal/compagreements or call our Service Center at the number shown on page 1 of this prospectus.

The additional compensation arrangements described in the preceding paragraphs are not offered to all broker-dealers and the terms of such arrangements may differ among broker-dealers. Some broker-dealers may receive two or more of these payments. Such payments may give us greater access to the registered representatives of the broker-dealers that receive such compensation or may influence the way that a broker-dealer markets the certificate. Any such compensation will be paid by MSD or us and will not result in any additional direct charge to you.

The additional compensation arrangements may provide a registered representative with an incentive to sell this certificate over other available variable annuity certificates whose issuers do not provide such compensation or who provide lower levels of such compensation. Your registered representative typically receives a portion of the compensation that is payable to his or her broker-dealer, depending on the agreement between the representative and their firm. MassMutual is not involved in determining compensation paid to a registered representative of an unaffiliated broker-dealer. You may contact your broker-dealer or registered representative to find out more information about the compensation they may receive in connection with your purchase of a certificate. You may want to take these compensation arrangements into account when evaluating any recommendations regarding this certificate.

We intend to recoup a portion of the cash and non-cash compensation payments that we make through the assessment of certain charges described in this prospectus, including the contingent deferred sales charge. We may also use some of the 12b-1 distribution fee payments and other payments that we receive from certain funds to help us make these cash and non-cash payments.

Special Arrangements

For certain group or sponsored arrangements there may be expense savings that could be passed on to the customer because our cost for sales, administration, and mortality generally vary with the size of the customer. We will consider factors such as the size of the group, the nature of the sale, the expected purchase payment volume, and other factors we consider significant in determining whether to reduce charges. Subject to applicable state laws and regulations, we reserve the right to reduce or waive the administrative charge, the annual certificate maintenance charge or any other charge that is appropriate to reflect any expense savings. We will make any reductions according to our rules in effect when an application for a certificate is approved. We may change these rules from time to time. Any reduction in charges will reflect differences in costs or services, and will not be unfairly discriminatory.

We reserve the right to modify or terminate this arrangement.

Assignment

You can assign the certificate at any time during your lifetime. We will not be bound by the assignment until we receive written notice of the assignment in good order. We will not be liable for any payment or other action we take in accordance with the certificate before we receive notice of the assignment. You may be subject to tax consequences if you assign your certificate.

If the certificate is issued pursuant to a qualified plan, there may be limitations on your ability to assign the certificate. If you assign your certificate, your rights may only be exercised with the consent of the assignee of record.

We are not responsible for the validity of an assignment.

Unclaimed Property

Every state has some form of unclaimed property law that imposes varying legal and practical obligations on insurers and, indirectly, on contract owners, beneficiaries, and any other payees of proceeds from a contract. Unclaimed property laws generally provide for the transfer of benefits or payments under various circumstances to the abandoned property division or unclaimed property office in the state of last residence. This process is known as escheatment. To help avoid escheatment, keep your own information, as well as beneficiary and any other payee information up-to-date, including: full names, postal and electronic media addresses, telephone numbers, dates of birth, and social security numbers. To update this information, contact our Service Center.

Voting Rights

We are the legal owner of the fund shares. When a fund solicits proxies in conjunction with a vote of shareholders, we are required to obtain, from you and other participants, instructions as to how to vote those shares. When we receive those instructions, we will vote all of the shares for which we have not received voting instructions, in proportion to those instructions. This will also include any shares that we own on our own behalf. This may result in a small number of participants controlling the outcome of the vote. If we determine that we are no longer required to comply with the above, we will vote the shares in our own right.

During the accumulation phase of your certificate and while the annuitant is living, we determine the number of shares you may vote by dividing your certificate value in each fund, if any, by \$100. Fractional shares are counted. During the income phase or after the annuitant dies, we determine the number of shares you may vote based on our liability for future variable monthly annuity payments.

Changes to the Certificate

We reserve the right to amend the certificate to meet the requirements of applicable federal or state laws or regulations, or as otherwise provided in the certificate. We will notify you by written notice of such amendments.

Suspension of Payments or Transfers

We may be required to suspend or postpone transfers from the funds or payments from the funds for withdrawals or death benefits during any period when:

- the New York Stock Exchange is closed (other than customary weekend and holiday closings);
- trading on the New York Stock Exchange is restricted;
- an emergency exists as a result of which disposal of shares of the funds is not reasonably practicable or we cannot reasonably value the shares of the funds; or
- during any other period when the Securities and Exchange Commission, by order, so permits for your protection.

We reserve the right to defer payment for a withdrawal from The Fixed Account for the period permitted by law but not for more than six months.

If, pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules, a money market fund (Fund) suspends payment of redemption proceeds in connection with a liquidation of the Fund, we will delay payment of any transfer, withdrawal or death benefit from the applicable money market sub-account until the Fund is liquidated.

Termination of Certificate

We will terminate your certificate upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 1) the date of the last annuity payment; 2) the date payment is made of the entire certificate value; 3) the date of the last payment upon death to the last beneficiary; or 4) the date your certificate is returned under the right to examine certificate provision.

Anti-Money Laundering

Federal laws designed to counter terrorism and prevent money laundering might, in certain circumstances, require us to reject a purchase payment or block a participant's ability to make certain transactions and thereby refuse to accept any request for transfers, withdrawals, or death benefits, until instructions are received from the appropriate regulator. We may also be required to provide additional information about you and your certificate to government regulators.

Our Ability to Make Payments Under the Contract

Our Claims-Paying Ability. Our "claims-paying ability" is our ability to meet any contractual obligation we have to make payments under the contract. These amounts include death benefits, annuity payments, withdrawals and any amounts paid out through the contract's additional features. It is important to note that there is no guarantee that we will always be able to meet our claims-paying obligations, and as with any insurance product, there are risks to purchasing this contract. For this reason, you should consider our financial strength and claims-paying ability to meet our obligations under the contract when purchasing a contract and making investment decisions.

Obligations of Our Separate Account. Contract value you allocate to the funds is maintained in our separate account. Any withdrawals or transfers of contract value from the funds will be taken from the separate account. We cannot use the separate account's assets to pay any of our liabilities other than those arising from the contracts. See "Investment Choices – The Separate Account."

Obligations of Our General Account. Contract value you allocate to the fixed accounts is maintained in our general account. The assets of our general account support our insurance and annuity obligations and are subject to our general liabilities from our business operations and to claims by our creditors. We use general account assets for many purposes including to pay death benefits, annuity payments, withdrawals and transfers from the fixed accounts and to pay amounts we provide to you through an elected additional feature that are in excess of your contract value allocated to the separate account.

Because of exemptive and exclusionary provisions, the general account, unlike the separate account, has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (1933 Act) or the Investment Company Act of 1940 (1940 Act). Because of this, the general account is generally not subject to the provisions of the 1933 Act or the 1940 Act and the Securities and Exchange Commission staff has not reviewed the disclosures in this prospectus that relate to the general account. However, disclosures regarding the general account are subject to certain generally applicable provisions of the federal securities laws that require complete and accurate statements in prospectuses.

Our Financial Statements

We encourage both existing and prospective owners to read and understand our financial statements. Our audited statutory financial statements and those of the separate account are included in the Statement of Additional Information (SAI). You can request an SAI by contacting our Service Center at the number or address on page 1 of this prospectus.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to legal and regulatory actions, including class action lawsuits, in the ordinary course of its business. Our pending legal and regulatory actions include proceedings specific to us, as well as proceedings generally applicable to business practices in the industry in which we operate. From time to time, we also are subject to governmental and administrative proceedings and regulatory inquiries, examinations, and investigations in the ordinary course of our business. In addition, we, along with other industry participants, may occasionally be subject to investigations, examinations, and inquiries (in some cases industry-wide) concerning issues upon which regulators have decided to focus. Some of these proceedings involve requests for substantial and/or unspecified amounts, including compensatory or punitive damages.

While it is not possible to predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of any pending litigation proceedings or regulatory action, management believes, based on information currently known to it, that the ultimate outcome of all pending litigation and regulatory matters, after consideration of applicable reserves and rights to indemnification, is not likely to have a material adverse effect upon the separate account, the ability of the principal underwriter(s) to perform in accordance with its contracts with the Company on behalf of the separate account, or the ability of the Company to meet its obligations under the contracts.

For more information regarding the Company's litigation and other legal proceedings, see the notes to the Company's financial statements contained within the Statement of Additional Information.

Additional Information

For further information about the certificate, you may obtain a Statement of Additional Information. You can call the telephone number indicated on the cover page or you can write to us. For your convenience we have included a form for that purpose.

The Table of Contents of the Statement of Additional Information is as follows:

- 1) Assignment of Certificate
- 2) Distribution
- 3) Purchase of Securities Being Offered
- 4) Accumulation Units and Unit Value
- 5) Transfers During the Income Phase
- 6) Payment of Death Benefit
- 7) Annuity Payments
- 8) Experts
- 9) Financial Statements

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

	ee copy of the Statement of Additional Information, return this request form to the address or call our Service Center at (800) 272-2216.
Docume P.O. Bo	utual Financial Group ent Management Services – Annuities W360 x 9067 eld, MA 01102-9067
Please send m (AN2000NSA	e the Statement of Additional Information for MassMutual's Panorama Premier II).
Name	
Address	
	State Zip
City	I

ł

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Appendix A

Condensed Financial Information

The following schedules include accumulation unit values for the periods indicated. We have extracted some of this data from the separate account's audited financial statements. You should read this information in conjunction with the separate account's audited financial statements and related notes that are included in the Statement of Additional Information.

Accumulation Unit Values

Sub-Account	Dec. 31, 2013	Dec. 31, 2012	Dec. 31, 2011	Dec. 31, 2010	Dec. 31, 2009	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006	Dec. 31, 2005	Dec. 31, 2004	Value at Inception Date
Calvert Social Balanced	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$ 9.95	\$ 9.55	\$10.00(d)
Fidelity VIP Contrafund	29.26	22.60	19.69	20.48	17.72	13.24	23.36	20.15	18.29	15.86	10.00(a)
Fidelity VIP Growth Opportunities				_	_		_		7.83	7.29	10.00(c)
ING Clarion Global Real Estate(n)	12.64	12.36	9.97	10.68	9.34	7.10	10.08	12.22	—	—	10.00(f)
Invesco V.I. Diversified Dividend	9.40	7.27	6.21	6.43	5.92	4.71	11.77	15.35	13.37	12.80	10.00(d)
Invesco V.I. Global Health Care	20.60	14.86	12.47	12.16	11.71	9.30	13.22	11.99	11.55	10.83	10.00(d)
Invesco V.I. Technology	4.17	3.38	3.08	3.29	2.75	1.77	3.23	3.05	2.80	2.77	10.00(d)
Janus Aspen Balanced	—	—		—	—	—	—	—	10.69	10.05	10.00(d)
MFS Investors Trust	_			—	—		—	—	9.34	8.82	10.00(c)
MFS New Discovery	—	—		—	—	—	—	—	13.92	13.41	10.00(†)
MML Aggressive Allocation	14.25	11.34	9.94	10.27	8.97	6.79					10.00(h)
MML Asset Allocation	—	—	13.11	13.07	11.77	10.20	14.85	14.89	13.33	12.39	10.00(†)
MML Balanced Allocation	13.25	11.73	10.59	10.55	9.49	7.79					10.00(h)
MML Blend	15.18	12.80	11.52	11.15	10.05	8.46	11.10	10.63	9.64	9.34	10.00(b)
MML Blue Chip Growth	23.83	17.10	14.66	14.66	12.80	9.12	16.07	14.47	13.40	12.83	10.00(†)
MML Concentrated Growth	—	—	8.17	8.35	7.41	5.26	13.28	11.69	11.20	10.06	10.00(c)
MML Conservative Allocation	13.20	12.02	10.94	10.82	9.81	8.21					10.00(h)
MML Emerging Growth	—	—	4.79	5.20	4.21	3.81	6.65	5.72	5.51	5.53	10.00(d)
MML Enhanced Index Core Equity	_		10.26	10.14	9.01	7.36	11.91	11.56	10.09	9.70	10.00(e)
MML Equity	12.52	9.53	8.33	8.77	7.75	6.01	10.44	10.18	8.75	8.60	10.00(b)
MML Equity Income	21.68	16.92	14.63	14.95	13.19	10.68	16.88	16.60	14.14	13.80	10.00(†)
MML Equity Index	13.74	10.57	9.28	9.26	8.20	6.59	10.65	10.27	9.04	8.77	10.00(b)
MML Focused Equity	13.99	10.31									10.00(p)
MML Foreign	15.12	12.69	10.81	12.17	11.79	9.25	15.91	14.22	11.68	10.75	10.00(c)
MML Fundamental Growth	12.56	9.65									10.00(p)
MML Fundamental Value	13.15	10.22	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	10.00(p)
MML Global	11.88	9.38	7.69	8.13	7.31	5.62	10.04	9.82	8.86	8.49	10.00(c)
MML Growth & Income	18.50	14.15	12.01	12.41	11.29	8.97	15.18	15.45	14.23	13.64	10.00(7)
MML Growth Allocation	13.89	11.48	10.17	10.36	9.14	7.15					10.00(h)
MML High Yield	13.85	12.70	11.05	10.59	—	—	—	—	—	—	10.00(m)
MML Income & Growth	17.68	14.39	13.03	12.52	11.36	9.76	15.17	15.51	13.43	13.01	10.00(a)
MML Inflation-Protected and Income	13.26	14.72	13.97	12.48	11.88	10.84	11.49	10.84	10.89	10.86	10.00(7)
MML Large Cap Growth	11.93	9.06	7.93	8.35	7.13	5.48	9.40	8.39	8.12	7.79	10.00(c)
MML Managed Bond	11.97	12.37	11.89	11.27	10.71	—	—	—	—	—	10.00(i)
MML Managed Volatility	13.12	11.29	10.12	10.68	9.64	7.48	12.50	12.16	10.79	10.02	10.00(d)
MML Mid Cap Growth	44.07	32.69	29.14	29.92	23.69	16.53	28.03	24.32	23.10	20.42	10.00(a)
MML Mid Cap Value	27.60	21.46	18.65	19.03	16.07	12.51	16.80	17.44	15.13	14.61	10.00(c)
MML Moderate Allocation	13.59	11.72	10.50	10.54	9.42	7.59	—	—	_	—	10.00(h)
MML Money Market	9.38	9.51	9.65	9.78	9.92	10.05	_	_	_	_	10.00(h)
MML NASDAQ-100®	—	—	5.04	4.95	4.20	2.77	4.82	4.12	3.91	3.92	10.00(d)
MML Oppenheimer Small Company Opportunities(j)		_		_	10.13	11.14	18.71	20.42	17.94	16.40	10.00(e)

Sub-Account	Dec. 31, 2013	Dec. 31, 2012	Dec. 31, 2011	Dec. 31, 2010	Dec. 31, 2009	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006	Dec. 31, 2005	Dec. 31, 2004	Value at Inception Date
MML Short-Duration Bond	\$10.45	\$10.52	\$10.38	\$10.19	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$10.00(m)
MML Small Cap Equity	26.23	18.86	16.16	16.75	13.77	10.22	16.79	17.23	15.81	16.07	10.00(a)
MML Small Cap Growth Equity	27.99	19.12	17.09	18.29	15.17	11.12	18.34	16.97	15.77	14.34	10.00(b)
MML Small Cap Index			17.11	17.26	13.93	11.32	16.73	17.06	15.02	14.61	10.00(c)
MML Small/Mid Cap Value	25.71	18.87	16.07	17.62	14.09	10.01	16.46	20.44	17.29	16.12	10.00(†)
MML T. Rowe Price Growth Equity(k)					5.11	4.68	8.29	8.05	8.01	7.82	10.00(c)
MML Total Return	10.07	10.41	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	10.00(p)
Oppenheimer Capital Appreciation	15.14	11.84	10.52	10.79	10.00	7.02	13.06	11.61	10.90	10.52	10.00(c)
Oppenheimer Capital Income(o)	12.48	11.19	10.10	10.17	9.13	7.60	13.63	13.32	12.15	11.86	10.00(d)
Oppenheimer Core Bond(l)	13.17	13.37	12.29	11.51	10.48	9.69	16.13	15.67	15.09	14.92	10.00(a)
Oppenheimer Discovery Mid Cap Growth	13.36	9.96	8.67	8.70	6.92	5.29	10.54	10.05	9.90	8.94	10.00(c)
Oppenheimer Global	26.87	21.40	17.90	19.79	17.31	12.56	21.29	20.31	17.50	15.53	10.00(c)
Oppenheimer Global Strategic Income	20.35	20.66	18.46	18.56	16.37	13.97	16.51	15.27	14.40	14.23	10.00(c)
Oppenheimer High Income(l),(q)			3.69	3.84	3.39	2.74	13.04	13.24	12.27	12.16	10.00(c)
Oppenheimer International Growth	32.45	26.14	21.69	23.70	20.94	15.25	26.96	24.28	18.83	16.74	10.00(a)
Oppenheimer Main Street	14.66	11.28	9.79	9.93	8.67	6.85	11.30	10.97	9.67	9.25	10.00(c)
Oppenheimer Money(g)	12.60	12.78	12.96	13.14	13.32	13.47	13.29	12.84	12.43	12.25	10.00(a)
Panorama Growth			12.98	13.13	11.53	9.05	14.90	14.42	12.75	12.15	10.00(a)
Panorama Total Return	—	—	12.48	12.62	10.97	9.29	15.35	14.71	13.35	12.92	10.00(a)
PIMCO CommodityRealReturn Strategy	8.60	10.22	9.86	10.82	8.83	6.32	11.42	9.40	_	_	10.00(f)
Scudder VIT EAFE Equity Index					_				_	7.76	10.00(d)

Accumulation Units Outstanding

Sub-Account	Dec. 31, 2013	Dec. 31, 2012	Dec. 31, 2011	Dec. 31, 2010	Dec. 31, 2009	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006	Dec. 31, 2005	Dec. 31, 2004
Calvert Social Balanced(d)	—					_	—	—	80,630	93,732
Fidelity VIP Contrafund(a)	571,838	618,115	657,130	754,503	853,030	980,018	1,249,735	1,462,855	1,653,544	1,731,743
Fidelity VIP Growth Opportunities(c)	—	—	_	—		_	—	—	216,035	274,330
ING Clarion Global Real Estate(f),(n)	10,813	14,038	12,311	13,760	13,193	15,876	30,695	39,776	—	—
Invesco V.I. Diversified Dividend(d)	45,315	48,093	46,615	56,382	71,007	70,109	72,192	86,571	112,351	141,911
Invesco V.I. Global Health Care(d)	83,454	93,409	97,176	108,891	124,234	162,103	199,773	253,384	318,394	357,349
Invesco V.I. Technology(d)	88,518	111,627	115,201	161,504	189,139	210,710	294,740	403,587	390,374	497,444
Janus Aspen Balanced(d)	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	1,045,614	1,116,623
MFS Investors Trust(c)	_	_				_	_	_	327,510	354,981
MFS New Discovery(<i>†</i>)	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	—	35,646	28,110
MML Aggressive Allocation(h)	12,806	18,929	15,873	21,901	12,938	953	_	_	_	_
MML Asset Allocation(7)	—	—	377,356	460,006	516,972	552,296	774,187	816,796	723,303	647,360
MML Balanced Allocation(h)	86,243	84,522	77,082	81,130	62,205	6,575	_	_	_	_
MML Blend(b)	847,515	913,599	872,899	889,535	951,053	1,095,271	1,457,723	1,742,360	944,150	1,091,017
MML Blue Chip Growth(7)	170,139	158,341	139,521	139,567	138,109	60,978	99,362	93,934	101,110	86,422
MML Concentrated Growth(c)	—	—	282,439	352,522	425,463	537,388	671,005	826,173	977,168	1,074,924
MML Conservative Allocation(h)	41,549	32,797	45,655	42,169	31,053	20,556	_	_		
MML Emerging Growth(d)	—	—	62,330	76,616	80,139	70,333	87,135	87,614	93,786	96,643
MML Enhanced Index Core Equity(e)	_	_	115,454	146,067	166,039	196,571	232,897	277,210	27,208	28,935
MML Equity(b)	276,866	303,683	337,757	377,811	409,416	462,502	601,688	729,680	832,824	952,300
MML Equity Income(7)	218,496	210,271	217,841	244,951	268,587	263,479	329,690	324,084	284,866	208,511
MML Equity Index(b)	151,180	169,796	193,362	212,081	256,639	291,387	405,975	483,007	614,420	696,513
MML Focused Equity(p)	7,195	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	—	—
MML Foreign(c)	132,233	150,070	161,901	171,324	191,096	237,889	312,863	334,731	375,583	384,071
MML Fundamental Growth(p)	2,062	—	_	—	_	—	—	—	—	—
MML Fundamental Value(p)	1,952	1,771	—	—		—	—	—	—	—
MML Global(c)	222,370	261,682	295,735	380,638	443,220	515,892	688,760	847,004	989,061	1,148,488
MML Growth & Income(<i>†</i>)	176,736	202,334	229,032	277,814	324,402	383,597	563,795	678,963	618,090	577,726
MML Growth Allocation(h)	9,303	8,608	2,383	2,251	_	33,600	_	_	_	_
MML High Yield(m)	27,609	6,993	2,805	847	—	—	—	—	—	—
MML Income & Growth(a)	391,451	428,964	478,179	542,866	638,462	770,791	1,053,711	1,260,734	1,483,875	1,687,157
MML Inflation-Protected and Income([†])	153,024	180,909	206,252	226,425	239,285	246,375	336,374	461,468	502,075	463,436
MML Large Cap Growth(c)	186,540	209,380	233,514	256,456	298,674	364,780	474,358	597,060	731,812	879,222
MML Managed Bond(i)	71,170	96,328	87,524	76,034	53,188	—	—	—	—	—
MML Managed Volatility(d)	174,660	205,525	213,342	256,309	298,447	338,049	373,118	385,138	412,381	409,446
MML Mid Cap Growth(a)	320,366	354,700	386,895	446,751	523,044	603,006	782,648	934,726	1,085,788	1,202,269
MML Mid Cap Value(c)	266,268	299,233	331,126	370,486	421,896	519,564	720,986	902,408	1,007,010	1,088,910
MML Moderate Allocation(h)	83,153	85,452	40,545	25,715	11,355	1,878	—	—	—	—
MML Money Market(h)	446,761	636,068	71,329	80,047	152,069	213,301		_	_	—
MML NASDAQ-100®(d)	—	—	121,293	81,688	84,614	58,811	123,354	136,186	141,749	215,180
MML Oppenheimer Small Company Opportunities(e),(j)	_		_	_	_	72,597	99,338	106,874	112,491	108,902
MML Short-Duration Bond(m)	25,830	8,260	6,118	2,165	—	—	—	—	—	—
MML Small Cap Equity(a)	140,297	151,988	159,340	176,101	198,249	173,658	248,243	298,080	374,074	414,060
MML Small Cap Growth Equity(b)	53,463	65,360	76,036	87,774	96,739	115,475	136,923	188,991	210,873	241,732
MML Small Cap Index(c)	_	_	67,148	79,349	91,613	108,271	154,954	184,597	167,843	191,552
MML Small/Mid Cap Value(†)	50,502	48,575	52,539	59,743	67,274	75,953	102,851	156,596	152,375	110,235
MML T. Rowe Price Growth Equity(c),(k)	_		_	_		110,114	134,792	162,422	197,366	230,557
MML Total Return(p)	55,491	26,869	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_

Sub-Account	Dec. 31, 2013	Dec. 31, 2012	Dec. 31, 2011	Dec. 31, 2010	Dec. 31, 2009	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006	Dec. 31, 2005	Dec. 31, 2004
Oppenheimer Capital Appreciation(c)	390,962	469,700	550,047	655,809	749,673	860,171	1,087,066	1,320,690	1,416,271	1,525,002
Oppenheimer Capital Income(d),(o)	179,847	229,337	230,612	341,089	439,751	627,153	842,840	940,134	1,029,499	1,084,190
Oppenheimer Core Bond(a),(l)	291,383	347,257	400,306	468,236	554,225	732,175	999,701	1,198,808	1,378,374	1,523,329
Oppenheimer Discovery Mid Cap Growth(c)	216,325	260,207	282,464	334,434	376,604	411,950	549,299	681,087	794,801	889,517
Oppenheimer Global(c)	479,451	542,597	591,994	668,945	744,788	865,218	1,090,226	1,293,959	1,403,560	1,448,602
Oppenheimer Global Strategic Income(c)	512,120	588,636	605,828	684,344	770,056	914,176	1,199,692	1,211,842	1,315,941	1,337,786
Oppenheimer High Income(c),(l),(q)	—		193,583	221,637	287,681	360,035	511,172	664,257	736,313	956,000
Oppenheimer International Growth(a)	120,050	133,006	146,731	162,278	170,055	187,497	272,754	290,175	269,103	279,874
Oppenheimer Main Street(c)	503,992	605,210	623,794	760,065	876,697	1,051,067	1,348,976	1,716,252	1,959,204	2,206,487
Oppenheimer Money(a),(g)	157,130	157,696	220,233	265,636	401,797	702,609	463,251	518,295	621,951	765,276
Panorama Growth(a)			43,168	46,655	50,591	53,816	73,811	104,203	142,923	203,717
Panorama Total Return(a)			39,263	48,851	60,014	86,395	111,757	152,414	163,887	218,226
PIMCO CommodityRealReturn Strategy(f)	14,814	46,807	43,324	42,674	39,880	40,568	21,046	21,981	_	_
Scudder VIT EAFE Equity Index(d)			_	_					_	74,342

Notes to Condensed Financial Information

- (\dagger) Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2003.
- Commencement of public offering was September 1, 1998. (a)
- Commencement of public offering was May 1, 1999. *(b)*
- Commencement of public offering was September 1, 1999. (c)
- (d) Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2000.
- Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2001. (e)
- Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2006. (f)
- This sub-account is unavailable in certificates issued on or after January 19, 2008. (g)
- (h) Commencement of public offering was January 19, 2008.
- (i)
- Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2009. Effective May 1, 2009, MML Oppenheimer Small Company Opportunities was merged into MML Oppenheimer Small Cap Equity. The accumulation unit (j) value in the December 31, 2009 column is the value as of April 30, 2009.
- (k) Effective May 1, 2009, MML T. Rowe Price Growth Equity was merged into MML T. Rowe Price Blue Chip Growth. The accumulation unit value in the December 31, 2009 column is the value as of April 30, 2009.
- Effective May 1, 2009 and after, you may not allocate any new money to this sub-account via purchase payments or transfers. *(1)*
- (m) Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2010.
- (n) This sub-account is now known as VY Clarion Global Real Estate.
- This sub-account is unavailable in certificates issued on or after April 30, 2012. (0)
- Commencement of public offering was May 1, 2012. (p)
- (q) Effective October 26, 2012, Oppenheimer High Income was merged into Oppenheimer Global Strategic Income.